IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:

WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC., 1 et al.,

Debtors.

BROADBILL INVESTMENT CORP., NANTAHALA CAPITAL PARTNERS, LP, and BLACKWELL CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC, individually and on behalf of all holders of Litigation Tracking Warrants originally issued by Dime Bancorp,

Plaintiffs,

-against-

WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC., CHARLES LILLIS, DAVID BONDERMAN, FRANCIS BAIER, JAMES STEVER, MARGARET OSMER MCQUADE, ORIN SMITH, PHILLIP MATTEWS, REGINA MONTOYA, STEPHEN FRANK, STEPHEN CHAZEN, THOMAS LEPPERT, WILLIAM REED, JR., MICHAEL MURPHY,

Defendants.

Chapter 11

Case No. 08-12229 (MFW)

Jointly Administered

Adv. Pro. No. 10-50911 (MFW)

MOTION OF THE WMI DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS' SECOND AMENDED CLASS COMPLAINT

Newly-added defendants Charles Lillis, David Bonderman, James Stever, Margaret Osmer McQuade, Orin Smith, Phillip Matthews, Regina Montoya, Stephen Frank, Stephen Chazen, Thomas Leppert, William Reed, Jr., and Michael Murphy

¹ The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number are: (i) Washington Mutual, Inc. (3725); and (ii) WMI Investment Corp. (5395). The Debtors' principal offices are located at 925 Fourth Avenue, Seattle, Washington 98104.

(collectively, the "<u>WMI Director Defendants</u>"), ² hereby submit, by and through their counsel, this Motion to Dismiss (the "<u>Motion</u>")³ Plaintiffs' Second Amended Class Complaint [Dkt. No. 162] (the "<u>Complaint</u>") filed by Broadbill Investment Corp. ("<u>Broadbill</u>"), Nantahala Capital Partners, LP, ("<u>Nantahala</u>") and Blackwell Capital Partners, LLC ("<u>Blackwell</u>," and collectively, the "<u>Plaintiffs</u>").

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Despite originally suing only Washington Mutual, Inc. ("WMI"), debtor and debtor in possession in the above-captioned chapter 11 proceedings, on March 1, 2011, Plaintiffs amended their Complaint to add claims against WMI's directors. Although Plaintiffs have plead five causes of action in their Complaint, only two of those claims are raised against the WMI Director Defendants, both alleging breach of contract. See Compl. at 16-22. In those counts, Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the WMI Director Defendants' alleged "failure to ask JPMorgan to assume the LTW obligations is a breach of their duty to the LTW Holders under Section 4.4" of the Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement (the "Amended Agreement") (Compl. at Count II), and that the "Board of Directors must allow a claim in WMI's Chapter 11 case in favor of the LTW Holders in an amount equal to 85% of the net proceeds of the Anchor Litigation" or they will have "breached their duty and obligation to the LTW Holders by providing in the

.

² Plaintiffs have also named Francis Baier as a defendant in the Complaint based on their erroneous belief that he was an WMI Board Member. Mr. Baier is not currently a WMI Board member, nor was he a WMI Board member prior to WMB's receivership on September 25, 2008. At this time, Mr. Baier has not been served, and counsel for the WMI Director Defendants do not represent him; however, the arguments made in this Motion would also apply to the claims against Mr. Baier.

³ The WMI Director Defendants bring this motion solely on behalf of themselves; WMI has independently answered the Complaint. See Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim of Defendant Washington Mutual, Inc. to Second Amended Class Complaint, dated March 18, 2011 [Dkt. No. 171].

Plan that the LTW Holders receive no distribution" in violation of sections 4.4 and 4.5 of the Amended Agreement. Compl. at Count III.

Both counts are premised on the cursory allegation that the WMI Director Defendants breached some duty under the Amended Agreement; however, the Complaint is devoid of a single factual allegation showing that the WMI Director Defendants are parties to the Amended Agreement or are in any way personally bound by it. This absence of facts makes it legally impossible for Plaintiffs to assert a valid breach of contract claim against the WMI Director Defendants: it is a basic rule of law that there can be no claim for breach of contract in the absence of contractual privity between the parties. Plaintiffs cannot simply "tack on" the WMI Director Defendants to their claims in a gratuitous manner when it is undisputed that the WMI Director Defendants are not parties to the governing agreements. Moreover, Plaintiffs point to no legally cognizable duty personally owed by the WMI Director Defendants to Plaintiffs or the other holders of the litigation tracking warrants ("LTWs"). This pleading defect is fatal to Plaintiffs' claims against the WMI Director Defendants and dispositive on this Motion.

Moreover, even if the lack of privity were not dispositive, Plaintiffs fail to plead any facts showing how the WMI Director Defendants could face personal liability in this action when the LTW holders' putative claims, if established, would be satisfied in full pursuant to the reserve set aside under WMI's Plan. The Court previously set the reserve estimate for Plaintiffs' maximum recovery in the Adversary Proceeding on behalf of all LTW holders at \$337 million.⁴ Accordingly, to the extent Plaintiffs are able to

⁴ See Revised Order Estimating Maximum Amount of LTW Claims for Purposes of Establishing Reserves (Feb. 8, 2011) at 2 [Main Dkt. No. 6701] ("\$337 million is the maximum amount for which the LTW

prove their claims against WMI, any recovery will be funded in full by the reserve pursuant to the terms of WMI's Plan, and Plaintiffs will have suffered no damages. Because they have not been damaged by any alleged act or omission of the WMI Director Defendants, no cause of action for breach of contract is cognizable.

Plaintiffs have not alleged any claim for breach of fiduciary duty against the WMI Director Defendants. Moreover, even if Plaintiffs had asserted such claims, they would fail under the business judgment rule.

Even accepting all facts alleged in the Complaint as true, Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim against the WMI Director Defendants upon which relief can be granted, and the claims asserted against them should therefore be dismissed in their entirety and with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In deciding whether to dismiss a claim under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), courts consider whether the plaintiff has provided the "grounds of his entitlement to relief," which "requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do." *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citations omitted). To survive a motion to dismiss, "[f]actual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level, on the assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true." *Id.* (citations omitted).

Further, "[a]s a general matter, a district court ruling on a motion to dismiss may not consider matters extraneous to the pleadings." In re Burlington Coat

Claims can be allowed in the bankruptcy proceeding regardless of the outcome of any pending objection or defense to the claim, state or federal court litigation or other proceeding.").

Factory Secs. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cir. 1997). "However, an exception to the general rule is that a document integral to or explicitly relied upon in the complaint may be considered without converting the motion to dismiss into one for summary judgment." Id. (internal citations omitted). Specifically, "a court may consider an undisputedly authentic document that a defendant attaches as an exhibit to a motion to dismiss if the plaintiff's claims are based on the document." Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. v. White Consol. Indus., Inc., 998 F.2d 1192, 1196 (3d Cir. 1993). Here, because Plaintiffs "explicitly relied" upon and incorporated the Amended Agreement, as well as the original Warrant Agreement, dated December 21, 2000 (the "Original Agreement"), into the Complaint as "integral" to their claims (see Compl. at ¶¶ 3-9, 11, 22, 30, 42-44, 50-51, 54, 58, 60-103), the Court should consider the Original Agreement and Amended Agreement, true and correct copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibits A and B, in ruling on this Motion. See Pension Benefit Guar. Corp., 998 F.2d at 1196.

II. PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS AGAINST THE WMI DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS ARE INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW BECAUSE THERE IS NO PRIVITY OF CONTRACT BETWEEN PLAINTIFFS AND THE DIRECTORS

Plaintiffs assert two breach of contract claims against the WMI Director Defendants, but fail to make any allegations that the WMI Director Defendants were ever parties to or bound by the Original or Amended Agreements. See Compl. at ¶¶ 71-89. As is plain from those two agreements, none of the WMI Director Defendants (nor non-director defendant Francis Baier) is a signatory to either document. See Exs. A and B. Because no privity exists between Plaintiffs and the WMI Director Defendants that would give rise to an actionable breach of contract claim, Counts II and III against the WMI

Director Defendants fail as a matter of law and should be dismissed. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

It is axiomatic that only parties to a contract can be bound by its terms. See Pac. Carlton Dev. Corp. v. 752 Pac., LLC, 878 N.Y.S.2d 421, 422 (N.Y. App. Div. 2d Dep't 2009) (holding that because defendant was "not a party to the contract alleged to have been breached[, . . .] he cannot be bound by the contract;"); Nat'l Survival Game of N.Y. v. NSG of LI Corp., 169 A.D.2d 760, 761 (N.Y. App. Div. 2d Dep't 1991) (explaining that because defendant and his corporation "were not parties to this [non-compete] agreement, they cannot be bound by it"); Carcasole-Lacal v. Am. Airlines, Inc., No. CV-02-4359 (OGT), 2003 WL 21525484, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. July 8, 2003) (finding that "Plaintiff's breach of contract claim is fatally deficient because there is not and was never a contractual relationship between plaintiff and either American Airlines or TWA Airlines LLC" and explaining that "a party cannot be held liable for a breach of contract to which it was not a party.").

It is clear under controlling New York law that privity must exist in order to assert a valid breach of contract claim against a defendant. See Randolph Equities, LLC v. Carbon Capital, Inc., No. Civ. 10889 (PAC), 2007 WL 914234, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (finding that "contract claim against [defendant] . . . fails because Plaintiffs have not alleged facts sufficient to show that [defendant] entered into an agreement with Plaintiffs."); Samide v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Brooklyn, 754 N.Y.S. 2d 164, 176 (N.Y. Sup. 2003) (dismissing breach of contract claims against executives for lack of

⁵ New York law is applicable here pursuant to the choice of law provision in Section 7.4 of the Amended Agreement. See Ex. B.

contractual obligation between plaintiff and defendants, and stating that "[w]here there is no contractual obligation between two parties, there can be no breach of contract claim"); *Everest Props. II, L.L.C. v. Am. Tax Credit Props. II, L.P.*, No. 99C-08-122-WTQ, 2000 WL 145757, at *5 (Del. Super. Ct. 2000) (dismissing breach of contract claims based on plain language of partnership agreement, and holding it was "clear that no privity of contract exists" and "[w]ithout such privity," a plaintiff has no "standing to assert breach of contract unless an agency relationship, legally recognizable in this context, exists."). 6

Moreover, where, as here, an individual director has been named as a defendant in a breach of contract action, it is well settled that "[a] director is not personally liable for his corporation's contractual breaches unless he assumed personal liability, acted in bad faith or committed a tort in connection with the performance of the contract." *Mills v. Polar Molecular Corp.*, 12 F.3d 1170, 1177 (2d Cir. 1993) (dismissing breach of contract claim against directors); *see also Liang v. Sollecito*, No. 097990 CVN 2010, 2010 WL 4668334, at *1-2 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. Nov. 18, 2010) (dismissing breach of contract claim where "[t]here [wa]s insufficient proof of privity of contract between the parties to this action" and explaining that "[t]he officers of a corporation . . . cannot be held personally liable on contracts provided that they did not bind themselves individually"); *Westminster Constr. Co. v. Sherman*, 160 A.D.2d 867,

⁶ The Everest Properties court also emphasized that it "kn[ew] of no public policy which, in this context of entity governance, overrides the clear intent of the agreement and its incorporated traditional concepts of privity." 2000 WL 145757, at *5.

868 (App. Div. 2d Dep't 1990) (holding that a corporate officer "individually, cannot . . . be held liable for a breach of contract between his corporation and another").

Here, it cannot be disputed that none of the WMI Director Defendants (nor non-director Mr. Baier) was a signatory to the Warrant Agreement or the Amended Warrant Agreement. See Exs. A & B. Plaintiffs have not alleged any agreement between themselves (or any LTW holder) and the WMI Director Defendants, nor have they alleged that the WMI Director Defendants received any consideration in exchange for undertaking any alleged obligations under the Warrant Agreement or Amended Warrant Agreement.

Although none of the WMI Director Defendants signed either the Warrant Agreement or the Amended Warrant Agreement, even if they had, there is a "presumption against individual liability . . . under New York Law" when an individual signs a contract in his or her corporate capacity as an officer or director of a corporation, as opposed to a personal capacity. *Lerner v. Amalgamated Clothing & Textile Workers Union*, 938 F.2d 2, 3 (2d Cir. 1991). In *Lerner*, the Second Circuit held that even where a corporation's president signed a certificate of ratification of a labor contract, he had done so solely in his corporate capacity as president, and thus was not bound individually to

⁷ See also Sanford v. Waugh & Co., 328 S.W.3d 836, 844 (Tenn. 2010) (applying Delaware law and explaining that "creditors may not directly sue officers and directors of a corporation because they allegedly failed to properly manage corporate affairs" and noting the "general rule that to become directly liable to a creditor, a statutory duty must devolve upon the director or there must be some conduct which creates privity of contract between them or which results in tortious injury to the creditor for which an

action ex delicto will lie." (internal quotations omitted).

8

the terms of the agreement so as to render him personally liable. *See id.* (noting the absence of evidence of "the signatory's explicit intent to assume personal liability").⁸

As in the *Carcasole-Lacal* case, "[e]ven the most liberal construction of [Plaintiffs' C]omplaint and incorporated documents fails to find a single assertion or indication that [any of the WMI Director Defendants] was a party to, or ever assumed any obligations with respect to" the [Warrant Agreement]. *See* 2003 WL 21525484, at *4 (dismissing breach of contract claim against individual defendant). Only WMI, not the WMI Director Defendants, was a party to the agreements, and thus, any breach of contract claim asserted by Plaintiffs must be asserted against WMI alone. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' claims against the WMI Director Defendants cannot stand, and the Court should dismiss the Complaint as against the WMI Director Defendants in its entirety and with prejudice.

III. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO ALLEGE A NECESSARY ELEMENT OF A CLAIM FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT – DAMAGES

The Complaint fails for the additional, independent reason that Plaintiffs have not alleged any facts demonstrating a cognizable claim for damages. A "complaint

[A]s a matter of routine, boards of directors enter into contracts with third parties that limit the board's management of the business and affairs of the corporation, most notably agreements to merge with or to acquire other companies. . . . Thus, for example, it is permissible for a board to enter into what are called deal protection measures such as lock-up agreements (these are, after all, a contractual device).

2006 Del. Ch. LEXIS 11, at *9-11 (Del. Ch. Jan. 19, 2006). The ruling in *Unisuper* that directors and officers may not use principles of fiduciary duty as a defense in a breach of contract action does not change the inevitable result here: Plaintiffs have not alleged the requisite facts to support a claim for breach of contract by the WMI Director Defendants, given the undisputed lack of privity between the WMI Director Defendants and Plaintiffs.

⁸ The facts here are readily distinguishable from those discrete situations where corporate board members enter into agreements in their personal capacities, such as cases involving lock-up agreements or mergers, in which board members agree to vote their stock a particular way. See, e.g., Thompson v. Enstar Corp., 509 A.2d 578, 583 (Del. Ch.1984). As the Delaware Court of Chancery noted in Unisuper Ltd. v. News Corp.:

must plead 'actual and ascertainable damages' to survive dismissal." *Williams v. Omrani* & *Taub, P.C.*, 899 N.Y.S.2d 64, at *6 (N.Y. Sup. 2009). Yet here, Plaintiffs' Complaint does not plead that the WMI Director Defendants would actually be personally responsible for the payment of damages to Plaintiffs. To the contrary, any eventual judgment and damage award in favor of Plaintiffs and the LTW holders here would be completely satisfied by WMI as a result of the \$337 million reserve set aside for the LTW claims. *See supra* note 4.

Indeed, courts routinely dismiss claims where, as here, the plaintiff has not alleged facts that would warrant recovery against a particular defendant. See, e.g., Blue Chip Capital Fund II Ltd. P'ship v. Tubergen, 906 A.2d 827, 828 (Del. Ch. 2006) (applying Delaware law); Williams, 899 N.Y.S.2d 64, at *6 (applying New York law). This case is similar to Blue Chip. In Blue Chip, the Delaware Court of Chancery dismissed all claims against the individual director defendants, holding that "because it appears the plaintiffs can achieve a full recovery if they are successful on their contract-based claims [against the company], the related, but secondary, claims for breach of fiduciary duty [against the director defendants] (based on the same facts) should be dismissed." 906 A.2d at 828. Significantly, in dismissing claims against the directors, the court noted the company's assurance that it could provide a full remedy to plaintiffs if the claims succeeded. See id. at 834. Similarly, in Williams, the court dismissed a legal malpractice claim against attorneys because "plaintiff cannot assert with any certainty

⁹ The *Blue Chip* court also clarified that *only if* "the company does not have sufficient funds to distribute to [the plaintiffs], . . . may [plaintiff] seek recovery by asserting breach of contract claims against the individual defendant directors." 906 A.2d at 834 n.27. Here, because the \$337 million reserve caps any potential recovery by Plaintiffs in this proceeding, it is clear that the claims against the WMI Director Defendants are extraneous and legally insufficient and should be dismissed with prejudice.

(and thus does not plead) that he would have recovered any sums" in the underlying personal injury lawsuit. *Williams*, 899 N.Y.S.2d 64, at *6.

Such is the case here: WMI is the only defendant from whom an actual monetary recovery would be obtained, thus rendering the WMI Director Defendants unnecessary and improper parties to this proceeding. Even if Plaintiffs prevailed entirely on their claims, their maximum recovery would be satisfied by the \$337 claim reserve set aside by WMI. *See supra* note 4. Because any recovery Plaintiffs obtain will be fully satisfied from the \$337 million reserve and Plaintiffs have not alleged facts that would warrant recovery against the WMI Director Defendants, the WMI Director Defendants are not proper parties and the claims against them should be dismissed as a matter of law.

IV. PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT PLEAD BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AGAINST THE WMI DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS, NOR COULD THEY COULD UNDER APPLICABLE LAW

Plaintiffs have not asserted claims for breach of fiduciary duty against the directors in their Complaint. Rather, Plaintiffs have simply "tacked on" the WMI Director Defendants to counts which allege breach of contract claims against WMI. But even if Plaintiffs did assert claims for alleged breach of fiduciary duties, Plaintiffs could not validly press such claims arising out of the same facts underlying their breach of contract claims. It is a well-settled principle that where a dispute arises from obligations that are expressly addressed by contract, that dispute will be treated as a breach of contract claim, and cannot be converted to a breach of fiduciary duty claim simply because one party to the contract was to act through its fiduciaries. In that context, "any fiduciary claims arising out of the same facts that underlie the contract obligations would be foreclosed as superfluous." *Nemec v. Shrader*, 991 A.2d 1120, 1129 (Del. 2010); *see also Blue Chip*, 906 A.2d at 833 (explaining that "if the dispute relates to rights and

obligations expressly provided by contract, the fiduciary duty claims [against board members] would be 'superfluous.'").

Further, cases have explicitly recognized that holders of warrants — contractual counterparties to a corporation — are not owed any fiduciary duty by a corporation's directors. See Helvering v. SW. Consol. Corp., 315 U.S. 194, 200-01 (1942) ("Whatever rights a warrant holder may have to require the obligor corporation to maintain the integrity of the shares covered by the warrants ... he is not a shareholder . . . His rights are wholly contractual . . . And he cannot assert the rights of a shareholder"); MCG Capital Corp. v. Maginn, No. 4521-CC, 2010 Del. Ch. LEXIS 87, at *54 (Del. Ch. May 5, 2010) ("Under Delaware law, directors do not owe fiduciary duties to warrant holders under any circumstances. The rights of warrant holders are governed exclusively by the terms of their warrants."). The Plaintiffs are undeniably holders of warrants. See Ex. B at Recital A (describing LTWs as "the right to purchase shares or a portion of a share of [Washington Mutual common stock]"). Thus, as a matter of law, Plaintiffs cannot assert breach of fiduciary duty claims because the WMI Director Defendants did not owe Plaintiffs any fiduciary duty.

Moreover, the scant factual allegations in Plaintiffs' Complaint would hardly be sufficient to state a claim for breach of fiduciary duty against the WMI Director Defendants under the pleading standard of Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) and applicable Washington law.¹⁰ Plaintiffs have not (and could not) shown that the WMI Director

¹⁰ Because WMI is incorporated under the laws of the State of Washington, the actions of its directors and officers, including the fulfillment of their fiduciary duties of care and loyalty while managing WMI's affairs, are governed by Washington law pursuant to the internal affairs doctrine. See, e.g., Edgar v. MITE Corp., 457 U.S. 624, 645 (1982); Kamen v. Kemper Fin. Servs., Inc., 500 U.S. 90, 106 (1991); Atherton v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp., 519 U.S. 213, 224 (1997). Notably, Washington courts often rely on Delaware's

Defendants' conduct, including any alleged failure to make adjustments with respect to the LTWs upon the occurrence of the WMB receivership (or later conduct during WMI's chapter 11 process), violated state law¹¹ – especially given that WMB had already been seized by the federal government at the time of the alleged failure to act, thereby rendering it a practical impossibility for the WMI Director Defendants to have taken any action with respect to the LTWs. It is a well settled rule of law that the directors' conduct is protected by the business judgment rule, which shields directors from personal monetary liability where, as here, they acted in good faith within their corporate authority. *See, e.g., Miller v. Robertson*, No. 22157-8-II, No. 23087-9-II, 1999 Wash. App. LEXIS 244, at *36 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 12, 1999). ¹² Accordingly, the Complaint fails to plead facts sufficient to state a claim against the WMI Director Defendants for either breach of contract or breach of fiduciary duty.

expansive body of case law for supplemental authority. See, e.g., Schwartzman v. McGavick, No. C06-1080P, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28962, at *10-11 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 19, 2007); In re F5 Networks Deriv. Litig., No. C06-794RSL, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 57464, at *16-18 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 6, 2007).

¹¹ In order to state a breach of fiduciary duty claim under Washington law, Plaintiffs would have to show that the WMI Director Defendants violated Section 23B.08.300 of the Revised Code of Washington, which provides that a "director shall discharge the duties of a director, including duties as a member of a committee: (a) [i]n good faith; (b) [w]ith the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and (c) [i]n a manner the director reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation." Wash. Rev. Code § 23B.08.300(1) (2011). Section 23B.08.300 explicitly applies to omissions as well as affirmative acts by providing that a director is not liable for "any failure to take any action" that falls outside of its ambit. *Id.* Plaintiffs' Complaint is devoid of any such factual allegations.

See also Scott v. Trans-System, Inc., 64 P.3d 1, 5 (Wash. 2003); Interlake Porsche + Audi, Inc. v. Blackburn, 728 P.2d 597, 603 (Wash. Ct. App. 1986); Durand v. HIMC Corp., 214 P.3d 189, 199 (Wash. Ct. App. 2009); Nursing Home Bldg. Corp. v. De Hart, 535 P.2d 137, 143 (Wash. Ct. App. 1975).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the WMI Director Defendants respectfully request that the Court dismiss all of the claims against them in their entirety with prejudice.

Dated: April 1, 2011

Wilmington, Delaware

Mark D. Collins (No. 2981)

Chun I. Jang (No. 4790)

Travis A. McRoberts (No. 5274)

RICHARDS, LAYTON & FINGER, P.A.

One Rodney Square 920 North King Street Wilmington, DE 19801

Telephone: (302) 651-7700 Facsimile: (302) 651-7701

- and -

Brian S. Rosen WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP 767 Fifth Avenue New York, New York 10153 Telephone: (212) 310-8000 Facsimile: (212) 310-8007

Attorneys for the WMI Director Defendants

EXHIBIT A

<document> <type>EX-3 <sequence>2 <filename>0002.txt</filename></sequence></type></document>		
<pre><description>FORM OF WARRANT AGREEMENT <text></text></description></pre>		
<page></page>		
Exi	hibit 3	
Form of		
Warrant Agreement		
Dated as of		
December [], 2000		
among		
Dime Bancorp, Inc.		
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.		
and		
EquiServe Limited Partnership		
as the Warrant Agent		
<page></page>		
TABLE OF CONTENTS		
Article I		
Defined Terms		
<table> <caption></caption></table>	Dowo	
	Page 	
<pre> <pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre></pre>	<c> 1 3</c>	
Article II		
Warrant Certificates		
2.1 Issuance of Warrant Certificates	4 4 4 5	BB DX-1P

2.5	Transfer and Exchange	5
2.6	Replacement Certificates	6
2.7	Temporary Certificates	7
2.8	Cancellation	7
2.9	Purchase of Warrants by the Company	7
	Article III	
	Exercise Terms	
	Number of Warrant Shares; Exercise Price	7
	Exercise Period	7
	Expiration	8
	Manner of Exercise	8
	Issuance of Warrant Shares	8
	Fractional Warrant Shares	9 9
	Reservation of Warrant Shares	9
	Holders Not Entitled to Interest	9
3.9	norders Not Entitled to Interest	,
	Article IV	
	Adjustments	
	Reclassifications, Redesignations or Reorganizations of Common	
4.1	Stock	10
	Combination	10
	Exercise Price Adjustment	10
	Other Events	11
	Notice of Certain Transactions	11
4.6	Adjustment to Warrant Certificate	11
	Article V	
	Warrant Agent	
	Nature of Duties and Responsibilities Assumed	11
	Right to Consult Counsel	12
	Compensation and Reimbursement	13
	Indemnification	13 13
	Warrant Agent May Hold Company Securities	13
3.6 (TAI		13
•		
	i -	
<pag< td=""><td>E></td><td></td></pag<>	E>	
	Article VI	
	Rights of Holders	
	ragics of norders	
<tab< td=""><td></td><td></td></tab<>		
<cap< td=""><td>TION></td><td>Dagg</td></cap<>	TION>	Dagg
		Page
<c></c>	<s></s>	<c></c>
6.1	Holders not Stockholders	13
6.2		14
6.3	~	14
6.4	Determination of Values	14

Article VII

Miscellaneous

7.1	Information	14
7.2	Amendment	14
7.3	Notices	1.5
7.4	GOVERNING LAW	15
7.5	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	15
7.6	Entire Agreement, Etc	16
7.7	Counterparts and Facsimile	16
7.8	Captions	1.6
	Severability	
	No Third Party Beneficiaries	
7.11	Successors	16
<td>LE></td> <td></td>	LE>	

EXHIBIT A--Form of Warrant Certificate
EXHIBIT B--Form of Election to Purchase Warrant Shares
EXHIBIT C--Certificate for Exchange of Global Warrant Certificate

ii

<PAGE>

Warrant Agreement, dated as of December [], 2000 (this "Agreement"), among Dime Bancorp, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company") and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. and EquiServe Limited Partnership collectively as Warrant Agent (in such capacity, the "Warrant Agent").

Recitals

- A. The Board of Directors of the Company has authorized a distribution (the "Distribution") of one Litigation Tracking Warrant(TM) (a "Warrant") for each share of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.01 per share ("Common Stock"), outstanding as of the Close of Business (as defined below) on the Record Date (as defined below). Each Warrant represents the right to purchase shares or a portion of a share of Common Stock (subject to adjustment as provided herein), upon the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth.
- B. In order to issue Warrants in the Distribution and to issue Warrants to holders of outstanding Convertible Securities (as defined herein) who exercise or convert such Convertible Securities at any time and from time to time before the occurrence of the Trigger (as defined herein), the Company has determined to enter into this Agreement with the Warrant Agent.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties agree as follows:

Article I

Defined Terms

- 1.1 Definitions. As used in this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires:
- "Adjusted Litigation Recovery" means an amount equal to 85% of the amount obtained from the following equation: (a) the Amount Recovered minus (b) the sum of the following: (i) the total of all expenses incurred by or on behalf of

the Bank and the Company in pursuing the Litigation and obtaining the Amount Recovered (whether incurred before or after the date hereof), including, without limitation, fees and expenses of counsel, witnesses, experts and consultants, (ii) the total of all expenses incurred by the Company in connection with the creation, issuance and trading of the Warrants, including, without limitation, legal, financial advisory and accounting fees, the fees and expenses of the Warrant Agent and printing and registration costs (whether incurred before or after the date hereof) and (iii) an amount equal to the Amount Recovered, less the expenses described in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii), multiplied by the combined highest federal, New York State and New York City income tax rates applicable to financial institutions in the year (or years) in which the amount of the damages (in whole or in part) is fixed or determinable (after taking into account the effect of the deductibility of such taxes for federal and state income tax purposes).

"Adjusted Stock Price" means the average of the daily Closing Prices of a share of Common Stock for the thirty consecutive Trading Days ending on and including the Determination Date minus \$0.01; provided, that if the context in which this defined term is used is with respect to securities other than shares of Common Stock, then "Adjusted Stock Price" means the average of the daily Closing Prices of a unit of such securities for the thirty consecutive Trading Days ending on and including the Determination Date minus the exercise price determined for such securities in the manner described in Section 4.3; and provided, further that if the context in which this defined term is used is with respect to property other than publicly traded securities, then "Adjusted Stock Price" means the Fair Market Value of the amount of such property distributable in respect of one share of Common Stock.

"Amount Recovered" means the aggregate amount of any cash payment and the Fair Market Value of any property or assets actually received by the Bank pursuant to a final, nonappealable judgment in or final settlement of the Litigation (including any post-judgment interest actually received by the Bank on any Amount Recovered).

"Assistant Secretary" means any assistant secretary or person of similar title of the Company.

"Bank" means The Dime Savings Bank of New York, FSB, a federally chartered savings bank or any successor thereto.

"Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of such Board of Directors.

"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required by law to close.

"Close of Business" on any given date means 5:00 P.M., New York City time, on such date; provided, however, that if such date is not a Business Day it will mean 5:00 P.M., New York City time, on the next succeeding Business Day.

"Closing Price" on any day means the closing sale price regular way (with any relevant due bills attached) of a share of Common Stock on such day, or in case no such sale takes place on such day, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices regular way (with any relevant due bills attached) of a share of Common Stock, in each case on the NYSE Composite Tape (or any successor composite tape reporting transactions on national securities exchanges), or, if the Common Stock is not listed or admitted to trading on the NYSE, on the principal national securities exchange on which the Common Stock

is listed or admitted to trading (which will be the national securities exchange on which the greatest number of shares of Common Stock has been traded during the five consecutive Trading Days ending on and including the Determination Date), or, if not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of the closing bid and asked prices regular way (with any relevant due bills attached) of a share of Common Stock on the over-the-counter market on the day in question as reported by NASDAQ, or a similar generally accepted reporting service, or if not so available as determined in good faith by the Board, on the basis of such relevant factors as it in good faith considers appropriate.

"Combination" means an event in which the Company consolidates with, merges with or into, or sells all or substantially all its property and assets to another Person.

"Determination Date" means the 30th calendar day before the date on which the Bank receives the total amount of the Amount Recovered unless such date is not a Trading Day, in which case the Determination Date will be the next succeeding Trading Day. If the Amount Recovered is payable by the United States Government in installments, the Determination Date will be the 30th calendar day before the date on which the Bank receives the last installment of the Amount Recovered unless such date is not a Trading Day, in which case the Determination Date will be the next succeeding Trading Day.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Fair Market Value" means the fair market value of the relevant property on the Determination Date as determined in good faith by the Board, on the basis of such factors as it in good faith considers appropriate.

"Holder" means the duly registered holder of a Warrant under the terms of this Agreement.

"Litigation" means the Bank's case against the United States Government in the United States Court of Federal Claims entitled Anchor Savings Bank, FSB v. United States, No. 95-39C, filed on January 13, 1995.

"NASDAQ" means the stock market and automated quotation system operated by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

"NYSE" means the stock exchange operated by New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

"Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer, the President or any Executive Vice President of the Company.

2

<PAGE>

"Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

"Record Date" means the date fixed by the Board for the Distribution.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Secretary" means the secretary of the Company.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Trading Day" means a date on which the NYSE or NASDAQ (or any successor thereto) is open for the transaction of business.

"Trigger" means the occurrence of all of the following events: (a) receipt by the Bank of the Amount Recovered in full, (b) determination by the Bank of the amount of the Adjusted Litigation Recovery and (c) receipt of all regulatory approvals necessary to issue the shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the exercise of the Warrants, including without limitation, the effectiveness of a registration statement relating to the issuance of the Warrant Shares under the Securities Act.

"Warrant Shares" means the shares of Common Stock of the Company issued and received upon exercise of the Warrants.

1.2 Other Definitions

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

Term	Defined in Section
~~~	
<pre> "Agent Members" "Certificate Register" "Common Stock" "Company" "Convertible Securities" "Distribution" "DTC" "Exercise Notice" "Global Warrant" "Maximum Number of Warrants" "Number of Shortfall Shares" "Registrar" "SARs" "Stock Options" "Successor Company" "Termination Date" "Transfer Agent" "Warrant" "Warrant Agent" "Warrant Agent" "Warrant Agent" "Warrant Agent" "Warrant Agent" "Warrant Certificate"</pre>	<c></c>
"Warrant Exercise Period"	
<pre>"warrant Exercise Period" </pre>	

 3.2(b) |3

<PAGE>

#### Article II

#### Warrant Certificates

2.1 Issuance of Warrant Certificates. (a) As soon as practicable after the Record Date, the Warrant Agent will prepare and execute, the Company will countersign, and the Warrant Agent will send by first-class, postage-prepaid mail or other means as required by the Warrant Agent's insurance, to each

record holder of Common Stock as of the Close of Business on the Record Date, at the address of such holder shown on the records of the Company, one or more Warrant Certificates, in substantially the form of Exhibit A hereto (a "Warrant Certificate"), evidencing one Warrant for each share of Common Stock held.

- (b) At any time and from time to time before the Trigger occurs, the Company may cause the Warrant Agent to issue, in accordance with the provisions of this Article 2, Warrants to holders of stock options of the Company (the "Stock Options") that were outstanding on the Record Date, who exercise or convert such Convertible Securities into shares of Common Stock and Warrants in accordance with the terms and conditions of such Convertible Securities.
- (c) The maximum number of Warrants (the "Maximum Number of Warrants") that may be issued hereunder is equal to (i) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the Record Date plus (ii) the number of Warrants that holders of Convertible Securities would be entitled to receive had such Convertible Securities been exercised immediately before the Record Date.
- 2.2 Form and Dating. The Warrant Certificates will be substantially in the form of Exhibit A, hereto. The Warrants may have such notations, legends or endorsements as the Company may deem appropriate and as are not inconsistent with the provisions hereof or as may be required by law, stock exchange or stock market rule, agreements to which the Company is subject, if any, or usage (provided that any such notation, legend or endorsement is in a form acceptable to the Company). Each Warrant will be dated the date of its countersignature.
- (a) Certificated Warrants. The Warrants may be issued in definitive form represented by a physical Warrant Certificate (such certificate and all other certificates representing physical delivery of Warrants in definitive form being called "Certificated Warrants").
- (b) Global Warrant. The Warrants may be issued in the form of one or more fully registered global certificates with the global securities legend set forth in Exhibit A hereto (the "Global Warrant"), which will be registered in the name of the Warrant Agent on behalf of beneficial owners of Warrants and deposited in an account with the Depository Trust Company (or with such other custodian as it may direct) ("DTC"), and registered in the name of DTC or a nominee of DTC, duly executed by the Company and countersigned by the Warrant Agent as hereinafter provided. The number of Warrants represented by Global Warrants may from time to time be increased or decreased by adjustments made on the records of the Warrant Agent and DTC or its nominee as hereinafter provided. Except as provided in Section 2.5, owners of beneficial interests in a Global Warrant will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of Certificated Warrants.
- (c) Book-Entry Provisions. Members of, or participants in, DTC ("Agent Members") will have no rights under this Agreement with respect to any Global Warrant held on their behalf with DTC or by the Warrant Agent or under such Global Warrant, and DTC may be treated by the Company, the Warrant Agent and any agent of the Company or the Warrant Agent as the absolute owner of such Global Warrant for all purposes whatsoever. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein will prevent the Company, the Warrant Agent or any agent of the Company or the Warrant Agent from giving effect to any written certification, proxy or other authorization furnished by DTC or impair, as between DTC and its Agent Members, the operation of customary practices of DTC governing the exercise of the rights of a holder of a beneficial interest in any Global Warrant.
- 2.3 Execution and Countersignature. (a) With respect to any Global Warrant to be issued hereunder, one Officer will sign, and the Secretary or any

4

<PAGE>

Agent, upon the written order of the Company signed by an Officer, will countersign any Global Warrant certificate by manual or facsimile signature, and such Global Warrant will be deposited in accordance with Section 2.2(b) hereof.

- (b) With respect to all other Warrants, an Officer will sign, and the Company's Secretary or any of its Assistant Secretaries will attest, the Warrant Certificates for the Company by manual or facsimile signature. The Warrant Agent will countersign and deliver the Warrant Certificates for original issue, in each case upon a written order of the Company signed by an Officer of the Company. Such order will specify (in addition to the number of Warrants) the date on which the original issue of Warrants is to be countersigned.
- (c) If an Officer whose signature is on a Warrant Certificate no longer holds that office at the time the Warrant Agent countersigns the Warrant Certificate, the Warrant will be valid nevertheless. A Warrant will not be valid until an authorized signatory of the Warrant Agent manually countersigns the Warrant Certificate. The signature will be conclusive evidence that the Warrant Certificate has been countersigned under this Agreement.
- (d) The Warrant Agent may appoint an agent reasonably acceptable to the Company to countersign the Warrant Certificates. Unless limited by the terms of such appointment, such agent may countersign Warrant Certificates whenever the Warrant Agent may do so. Each reference in this Agreement to countersignature by the Warrant Agent includes by such agent. Such agent will have the same rights as the Warrant Agent for service of notices and demands.
- 2.4 Certificate Register. The Warrant Agent will keep a register (the "Certificate Register") of the Warrant Certificates and of their transfer and exchange which the Company may examine upon reasonable notice. The Certificate Register will show the names and addresses of the respective Holders and the date and number of Warrants evidenced on the face of each of the Warrant Certificates. The Company and the Warrant Agent may deem and treat the Person in whose name a Warrant Certificate is registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant Certificate and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent will be affected by notice to the contrary.

#### 2.5 Transfer and Exchange.

- (a) Transfer and Exchange of Certificated Warrants. When Certificated Warrants are presented to the Warrant Agent with a request to register the transfer or exchange of such Certificated Warrants, the Warrant Agent will register the transfer or make the exchange as requested if its reasonable requirements for such transaction are met; provided, however, that the Certificated Warrants surrendered for transfer or exchange will be duly endorsed or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form reasonably satisfactory to the Company and the Warrant Agent, duly executed by the Holder thereof or its attorney duly authorized in writing.
- (b) Restrictions on Transfer of Certificated Warrants for a Beneficial Interest in a Global Warrant. Certificated Warrants may not be exchanged for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant except upon satisfaction of the requirements set forth below. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent of Certificated Warrants, duly endorsed or accompanied by appropriate instruments of transfer,

in form satisfactory to the Warrant Agent, together with written instructions directing the Warrant Agent to make, or to direct DTC to make, an adjustment on its books and records with respect to such Global Warrants to reflect an increase in the number of Warrants represented by the Global Warrant, then the Warrant Agent will cancel such Certificated Warrants and cause, or direct DTC to cause, in accordance with the standing instructions and procedures existing between DTC and the Warrant Agent, the number of Warrants represented by the Global Warrant to be increased accordingly.

(c) Transfer and Exchange of Global Warrants. The transfer and exchange of beneficial interests in a Global Warrant will be effected through DTC, in accordance with this Agreement and the procedures of DTC.

5

<PAGE>

- (d) Restrictions on Transfer and Exchange of the Global Warrant. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, Global Warrants may not be transferred as a whole except by DTC to a nominee of DTC or by a nominee of DTC to DTC or another nominee of DTC or by DTC or any such nominee to a successor depositary or a nominee of such successor depositary.
- (e) Authentication and Distribution of Certificated Warrants. If at any time:
  - (i) DTC notifies the Company that DTC is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for Global Warrants and a successor depositary for Global Warrants is not appointed by the Company within 90 calendar days after delivery of such notice;
  - (ii) DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act; or  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Exchange}}$
  - (iii) the Company, in its sole discretion, notifies the Warrant Agent in writing that it elects to cause the issuance of Certificated Warrants under this Agreement;

then, the Company will execute, and the Warrant Agent, upon receipt of a written order of the Company signed by an Officer requesting the delivery of Certificated Warrants to the holders of beneficial interests in the Global Warrant, will countersign and deliver Certificated Warrants equal to the number of Warrants represented by Global Warrants, in exchange for such Global Warrants. Certificated Warrants issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant will be registered in such names and in such authorized denominations as DTC, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, will instruct the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent will deliver such Certificated Warrants to the Persons in whose names such Warrants are so registered in accordance with the instructions of DTC.

(f) Cancellation or Adjustment of Global Warrants. At such time as all beneficial interests in Global Warrants have either been exchanged for Certificated Warrants, redeemed, repurchased or canceled, such Global Warrant will be returned to DTC for cancellation or retained and canceled by the Warrant Agent. At any time before such cancellation, if any beneficial interest in a Global Warrant is exchanged for Certificated Warrants, redeemed, repurchased or canceled, the number of Warrants represented by such Global Warrant will be reduced and an adjustment will be made on the books and records of the Warrant Agent with respect to such Global Warrant, by the Warrant Agent or DTC, to reflect such reduction.

- (g) Obligations with Respect to Transfers and Exchanges of Warrants.
- (i) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Company will execute and the Warrant Agent will countersign Certificated Warrants and Global Warrants as required pursuant to the provisions of this Section 2.5.
- (ii) All Certificated Warrants and Global Warrants issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Certificated Warrants will be the valid obligations of the Company, entitled to the same benefits under this Agreement as the Certificated Warrants or Global Warrants surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange.
- (iii) Before due presentment for registration of transfer of any Warrant, the Warrant Agent and the Company may deem and treat the Person in whose name any Warrant is registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant and neither the Warrant Agent nor the Company will be affected by notice to the contrary.
- (iv) No service charge will be made to a Holder for any registration of transfer or exchange upon surrender of any Warrant Certificate at the office of the Warrant Agent maintained for that purpose. The Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any registration of transfer or exchange of Warrant Certificates.
- 2.6 Replacement Certificates. If a mutilated Warrant Certificate is surrendered to the Warrant Agent or if the Holder of a Warrant Certificate claims that the Warrant Certificate has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Company will issue and the Warrant Agent will countersign a replacement Warrant Certificate if the

6

<PAGE>

reasonable requirements of the Warrant Agent and of Section 8-405 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of New York are met. If required by the Warrant Agent or the Company, such Holder will furnish an indemnity bond or other instrument sufficient in the judgment of the Company and the Warrant Agent to protect the Company and the Warrant Agent from any loss which either of them may suffer if a Warrant Certificate is replaced. The Company and the Warrant Agent may charge the Holder for their expenses in replacing a Warrant Certificate.

- 2.7 Temporary Certificates. Until definitive Warrant Certificates are ready for delivery, the Company may prepare and the Warrant Agent will countersign temporary Warrant Certificates. Temporary Warrant Certificates will be substantially in the form of definitive Warrant Certificates but may have variations that the Company considers appropriate for temporary Warrant Certificates. Without unreasonable delay, the Company will prepare and the Warrant Agent will countersign definitive Warrant Certificates and deliver them in exchange for temporary Warrant Certificates.
- 2.8 Cancellation. (a) In the event the Company will purchase or otherwise acquire Certificated Warrants, the same will thereupon be delivered to the Warrant Agent for cancellation.
- (b) The Warrant Agent and no one else will cancel and destroy all Warrant Certificates surrendered for transfer, exchange, replacement, exercise or cancellation and deliver a certificate of such destruction to the Company unless the Company directs the Warrant Agent to deliver canceled Warrant

Certificates to the Company. The Company may not issue new Warrant Certificates to replace Warrant Certificates to the extent they evidence Warrants that have been exercised or Warrants that the Company has purchased or otherwise acquired.

2.9 Purchase of Warrants by the Company. The Company will have the right, except as limited by law or other agreement, to purchase or otherwise acquire Warrants at such times, in such manner and for such consideration as it may deem appropriate.

#### Article III

#### Exercise Terms

- 3.1 Number of Warrant Shares; Exercise Price. Each Warrant will, upon exercise thereof as provided herein, initially entitle the Holder thereof to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock having an Adjusted Stock Price equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the Maximum Number of Warrants at an exercise price per Warrant equal to the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrant is exercisable multiplied by \$0.01 (the "Exercise Price"). All calculations made pursuant to this Section 3.1 will be rounded to the nearest ten-thousandth. When exercising Warrants, a Holder shall pay a total Exercise Price of \$0.01 per each whole share of Common Stock the Holder will receive upon such exercise.
- 3.2 Exercise Period. (a) The Company will provide notice, as described below (the "Exercise Notice") to each Holder and the Warrant Agent, of the occurrence of the Trigger not more than 15 calendar days after the occurrence thereof. If the Amount Recovered is payable by the United States government in installments, the Trigger will not be deemed to have occurred until the Bank receives the last installment of the Amount Recovered. The Exercise Notice will be dated the date it is first sent to Holders and will be provided by means of a press release to one or more national news services and by mailing such notice first class, postage prepaid, to each Holder at such Holder's address as it appears on the Certificate Register; provided, however, that neither the failure to give such notice by mail to any particular Holder nor any defect therein will affect the validity of the Exercise Notice or the expiration of all Warrants on the Close of Business on the last day of the Warrant Exercise Period with respect to the other Holders. The Exercise Notice will contain the following information:
  - (i) that the Trigger has occurred,
  - (ii) the total number of shares for which the Warrants are exercisable,

7

<PAGE>

- (iii) the number of shares of Common Stock for which one Warrant is exercisable,
  - (iv) the Exercise Price per Warrant,
  - (v) the manner in which the Warrants are exercisable, and
  - (vi) the date on which the Warrants will no longer be exercisable.
- (b) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Warrant will be exercisable at any time or from time to time during the 60-day period commencing on the date on which the Exercise Notice is first sent to Holders

pursuant to Section 3.2(a) (the "Warrant Exercise Period").

- (c) No Warrant will be exercisable after the Close of Business on the last day of the Warrant Exercise Period.
- 3.3 Expiration. A Warrant will terminate and become void as of the earlier of the Close of Business on the last day of the Warrant Exercise Period, the Close of Business on the date the Litigation has been disposed of in a manner such that no shares of Common Stock or other securities or property will be issuable under the terms of the Warrants (the "Termination Date") or the time and date such Warrant is exercised. The Company will provide notice, as described below (the "Termination Notice"), of the occurrence of the Termination Date or the expiration of the Warrant Exercise Period not more than 60 calendar days after the occurrence thereof. The Termination Notice will be dated the date it is first sent to Holders and will be provided by means of a press release to one or more national news services and by mailing such notice first class, postage prepaid, to each Holder at such Holder's address as it appears on the Certificate Register. The Termination Notice will state the following:
  - (i) that the Termination Date has occurred or the Warrant Exercise Period has expired, as the case may be, and
    - (ii) that all outstanding Warrants have terminated and become void.

The Warrants will terminate and become void as provided herein notwithstanding the Company's failure to give the Termination Notice.

- 3.4 Manner of Exercise. Warrants may be exercised upon (i) surrender to the Warrant Agent of the Warrant Certificates, together with the form of election to purchase Common Stock on the reverse thereof properly completed and validly executed by the Holder thereof and (ii) payment to the Warrant Agent, for the account of the Company, of the total Exercise Price for the number of Warrants being exercised. Such payment will be made by certified or official bank check or personal check payable to the order of the Company. Subject to Sections 3.2 and 3.3, the Warrants will be exercisable at the election of the Holders thereof either in full at any time or from time to time in part. In the event that a Warrant Certificate is surrendered for exercise in respect of less than all the Warrant Shares purchasable on such exercise at any time before the expiration of the Warrant Exercise Period a new Warrant Certificate exercisable for the remaining Warrant Shares will be issued and its exercise will also be subject to Sections 3.2 and 3.3. The Warrant Agent will countersign and deliver the required new Warrant Certificates, and the Company, at the Warrant Agent's request, will supply the Warrant Agent with Warrant Certificates duly signed on behalf of the Company for such purpose. The Warrant Agent will account promptly to the Company with respect to all Warrants exercised and concurrently pay to the Company all moneys received by the Warrant Agent for the purchase of shares of Common Stock through the exercise of such Warrants.
- 3.5 Issuance of Warrant Shares. Subject to Section 3.6, upon the surrender of Warrant Certificates and payment of the Exercise Price in accordance with Section 3.4, the Company will issue and cause the Warrant Agent or, if appointed, a transfer agent for the Common Stock ("Transfer Agent") to countersign and deliver to or upon the written order of the Holder and in such name or names as the Holder may designate, a certificate or certificates for the number of full Warrant Shares so purchased upon the exercise of such Warrants or such other securities or property to which it is entitled, to the Person or Persons entitled to receive the same, together

with cash as provided in Section 3.6 in respect of any fractional Warrant Shares. Such certificate or certificates will be deemed to have been issued and any Person so designated to be named therein will be deemed to have become a holder of record of such Warrant Shares as of the date of the surrender of such Warrant Certificates and payment of the Exercise Price.

- 3.6 Fractional Warrant Shares. The Company will not issue fractional Warrant Shares. If any fraction of a Warrant Share would, except for this Section 3.6, be issuable, the Company will pay an amount in cash equal to (a) the sum of (i) the Adjusted Stock Price and (ii) \$0.01 (the Exercise Price per whole Warrant Share that would have been received), multiplied by (b) such fraction. Such cash amount will be rounded to the nearest whole cent.
- 3.7 Reservation of Warrant Shares. (a) The Company will use its best efforts to at all times keep reserved and available out of its authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock held in its treasury a number of shares of Common Stock sufficient to provide for the exercise in full of all Warrants then outstanding or reserved for issuance pursuant to Section 2.1. The registrar for the Common Stock (the "Registrar") will at all times until the Termination Date, or the time at which all Warrants have been exercised or canceled, reserve such number of authorized shares as will be required for such purpose. The Company will keep a copy of this Agreement on file with the Registrar. The Company will supply such Registrar with duly executed stock certificates for such purpose and will itself provide or otherwise make available any cash which may be payable as provided in Section 3.6. The Company will furnish to such Registrar a copy of all notices of adjustments and certificates related thereto transmitted to each Holder.
- (b) If, upon the Trigger, the number of shares of Common Stock authorized but not issued plus the number of shares of Common Stock held in the Company's treasury is less than the number of shares of Common Stock necessary to permit the exercise in full of the Warrants then outstanding or reserved for issuance pursuant to Section 2.1 (the number of shares of Common Stock comprising such deficiency being the "Number of Shortfall Shares"), then the Company will either (i) to the extent permitted by applicable law and any material agreements then in effect to which the Company is a party, commence a tender offer or buyback for the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock at least equal to the Number of Shortfall Shares or (ii) call a special meeting of the holders of Common Stock for the purpose of increasing the number of authorized shares of Common Stock in an amount at least equal to the Number of Shortfall Shares. In such an event, the Warrant Exercise Period will be automatically extended to 60 calendar days after (A) the date on which the tender offer or buyback referred to in clause (i) above is successfully completed or (B) the effective date of the increase in the number of authorized shares of Common Stock referred to in clause (ii) above.
- (c) The Company covenants that all shares of Common Stock that may be issued upon exercise of Warrants will, upon issue, be fully paid, nonassessable, free of preemptive rights, free from all taxes, liens, charges and security interests, created by or through the Company, with respect to the issue thereof.
- 3.8 Compliance with Law. (a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event will a Holder be entitled to exercise a Warrant unless (i) a registration statement filed under the Securities Act in respect of the issuance of the Warrant Shares is then effective or (ii) an exemption from such registration requirements is available to all Holders under the Securities Act at the time of such exercise.

- (b) If any shares of Common Stock required to be reserved for purposes of exercise of Warrants require, under any other Federal or state law or applicable governing rule or regulation of any national securities exchange or stock market, registration with or approval of any governmental authority, or listing on any such national securities exchange or stock market before such shares may be issued upon exercise, the Company will cause such shares to be duly registered or approved by such governmental authority or listed on the relevant national securities exchange or stock market.
- 3.9 Holders Not Entitled to Interest. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Holders will not be entitled to receive any interest or additional shares of our common stock for any period, including, without limitation, the period of time between the date on which the Bank receives the Amount Recovered (in full or in part) and the date on which the Warrants become exercisable.

9

<PAGE>

#### Article IV

#### Adjustments

- 4.1 Reclassifications, Redesignations or Reorganizations of Common Stock. (a) In the event that at any time or from time to time after the date hereof the Company will issue by reclassification, redesignation or reorganization of the shares of Common Stock any shares of capital stock of the Company then, in any such event, the Holders will have the right to receive upon exercise of each Warrant the number of shares of such capital stock of the Company equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the Maximum Number of Warrants divided by the aggregate Adjusted Stock Price of the capital stock of the Company that one share of Common Stock was exchanged for or converted into as a result of such reclassification, redesignation or reorganization.
- (b) The proportion and type of capital stock of the Company that the Holders will have the right to receive in the circumstance set forth in Section 4.1(a) will be in the same proportion and type as one share of Common Stock was exchanged for or converted into as a result of such reclassification, redesignation or reorganization. Such adjustment will become effective immediately after the effective date of such reclassification, redesignation or reorganization. In the event of the occurrence of more than one of the foregoing, such adjustments will be made successively.
- 4.2 Combination. (a) Except as provided in Section 4.2(c), in the event of a Combination, the Holders will have the right to receive upon exercise of each Warrant the number of shares of capital stock or other securities or an amount of property equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the Maximum Number of Warrants divided by the aggregate Adjusted Stock Price of the capital stock, other securities or property that one share of Common Stock was exchanged for or converted into as a result of such Combination.
- (b) The proportion and type of capital stock, other securities or property that the Holders will have the right to receive in the circumstance set forth in Section 4.2(a) will be in the same proportion and type as one share of Common Stock was exchanged for or converted into as a result of such Combination. The provisions of this Section 4.2 will similarly apply to successive Combinations involving the surviving or acquiring Person (the "Successor Company") in any Combination.
  - (c) In the event of a Combination where consideration is payable to holders

of Common Stock in exchange for their shares solely in cash, the Holders will have the right to receive upon exercise of each Warrant cash in an amount equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the Maximum Number of Warrants, less the Exercise Price. In case of any Combination described in this Section 4.2(c), the surviving or acquiring Person will promptly after the occurrence of the Trigger deposit with the Warrant Agent the funds necessary to pay to the Holders of the Warrants the amounts to which they are entitled as described above. After such funds and the surrendered Warrant Certificates are received, the Warrant Agent will make payment to the Holders by delivering a check in such amount as is appropriate to such Person or Persons as it may be directed in writing by the Holders surrendering such Warrants. No interest will accrue to the Holders or the surviving or acquiring Person on such funds.

- (d) The Company will provide that any Successor Company will enter into an agreement with the Warrant Agent confirming the Holders' rights pursuant to this Section 4.2 and providing for adjustments, which will be as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustments provided for in this Article IV.
- 4.3 Exercise Price Adjustment. In case of any reclassification, redesignation or reorganization described in Section 4.1 or any Combination described in Section 4.2, the Exercise Price of one Warrant after such reclassification, redesignation, reorganization or Combination will equal (i) if the Warrants are exercisable into stock only or stock and any cash or property other than cash which is received instead of any fractional share of stock, the per share par value of such stock multiplied by the number of shares of such stock into which one Warrant is exercisable and (ii) if the Warrants are exercisable for cash or property only, \$0.01. The Exercise Price may be adjusted, to the extent permitted by law, in such manner, if any, and at such time, as the Board may determine in good faith to be equitable in the circumstances.

10

#### <PAGE>

- 4.4 Other Events. If any event occurs as to which the foregoing provisions of this Article IV are not strictly applicable or, if strictly applicable, would not, in the good faith judgment of the Board, fairly and adequately protect the purchase rights of the Holders of the Warrants in accordance with the essential intent and principles of such provisions, then the Board may make, without the consent of the Holders, such adjustments to the terms of this Article IV, in accordance with such essential intent and principles, as will be reasonably necessary, in the good faith opinion of such Board, to protect such purchase rights as aforesaid.
- 4.5 Notice of Certain Transactions. In the event that the Company will publicly announce a plan (a) to effect any reclassification, redesignation or reorganization of its shares of Common Stock, (b) to effect any capital reorganization, consolidation or merger or (c) to effect the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, the Company will within 5 calendar days after such public announcement send to the Warrant Agent and the Warrant Agent will within 5 calendar days after receipt thereof send the Holders a notice (in such form as will be furnished to the Warrant Agent by the Company) of such proposed action, such notice to be mailed by the Warrant Agent to the Holders at their addresses as they appear in the Certificate Register, which notice will specify the expected date that such issuance or event is to take place and the expected date of participation therein by the holders of Common Stock and will briefly indicate the effect of such action on the Common Stock and on the number and kind of any other shares of stock and on other securities or property, if any, and the number of shares

of Common Stock and other securities or property, if any, purchasable upon exercise of each Warrant and the Exercise Price after giving effect to any adjustment which will be required as a result of such action.

4.6 Adjustment to Warrant Certificate. The form of Warrant Certificate need not be changed because of any adjustment made pursuant to this Article IV, and Warrant Certificates issued after such adjustment may have the same terms and conditions as are stated in any Warrant Certificates issued prior to the adjustment. The Company, however, may at any time in its sole discretion make any change in the form of Warrant Certificate that it may deem appropriate to give effect to such adjustments and that does not affect the substance of the Warrant Certificate, and any Warrant Certificate thereafter issued or countersigned, whether in exchange or substitution for an outstanding Warrant Certificate or otherwise, may be in the form as so changed.

#### Article V

#### Warrant Agent

- 5.1 Nature of Duties and Responsibilities Assumed.
- (a) Appointment. The Company hereby appoints the Warrant Agent to act as agent of the Company as set forth in this Agreement. The Warrant Agent hereby accepts the appointment as agent of the Company and agrees to perform that agency upon the terms and conditions herein set forth, by all of which the Company and the Warrant Holders, by their acceptance thereof, will be bound.
- (b) Authorization. Whenever in the performance of its duties under this Agreement, the Warrant Agent will deem it necessary or desirable that any fact or matter be proved or established by the Company prior to taking or suffering any action hereunder, such fact or matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a certificate signed by an Officer and delivered to the Warrant Agent; and such certificate will be full authorization to the Warrant Agent for any action taken or suffered in good faith by it under the provisions of this Agreement in reliance upon such certificate.
- (c) Liability of Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent will be liable hereunder only for its own negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct. The Warrant Agent will not be liable for or by reason of any of the statements of fact or recitals contained in this Agreement or in the Warrant Certificates (except its countersignature on the Warrant Certificates and such statements or recitals describing the Warrant Agent or action taken or to be taken by it) or be required to verify the same, but all such statements and recitals are and will be deemed to have

11

<PAGE>

been made by the Company only. The Warrant Agent will not have any liability or responsibility in respect of the legality, validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the execution and delivery hereof (except the due execution hereof by the Warrant Agent) or in respect of the validity or execution of any Warrant Certificate (except its countersignature thereof); nor will it be responsible or liable for any breach by the Company of any covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or in any Warrant Certificate; nor will it be responsible or liable for the making of any change in the number of shares of Common Stock required under the provisions of Article IV or responsible for the manner, method or amount of any such change or the ascertaining of the existence of any facts that would require any such adjustment or change; nor will it by any act

hereunder be deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization or reservation of any shares of Common Stock to be issued pursuant to this Agreement or any Warrant Certificate or as to whether any shares of Common Stock will, when issued, be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. The Warrant Agent will not be responsible or liable for any failure of the Company to comply with any of the covenants contained in this Agreement or in the Warrant Certificates to be complied with by the Company. The Warrant Agent will not incur any liability or responsibility to the Company or to any Warrant Holder for any action taken, or any failure to take action, in reliance on any notice, resolution, waiver, consent, order, certificate, or other paper, document or instrument reasonably believed by the Warrant Agent to be genuine and to have been signed, sent or presented by the proper party or parties.

- (d) Litigation. The Warrant Agent will be under no obligation to institute any action, suit or legal proceeding or take any other action likely to involve expense unless the Company or one or more Holders of Warrants will furnish the Warrant Agent with reasonable security and indemnity for any costs and expenses which may be incurred. All rights of action under this Agreement or under any of the Warrants may be enforced by the Warrant Agent without the possession of any of the Warrants or the production thereof at any trial or other proceeding relative thereto, and any such action, suit or proceeding instituted by the Warrant Agent will be brought in its name as Warrant Agent and any recovery of judgment will be for the ratable benefit of the Holders of the Warrants, as their respective rights or interests may appear. The Warrant Agent will promptly notify the Company in writing of any claim made or action, suit or proceeding instituted against it arising out of or in connection with this Agreement.
- (e) Instructions from the Company. The Warrant Agent is hereby authorized and directed to accept written instructions with respect to the performance of its duties hereunder from an Officer, and to apply to any such Officer for advice or instructions in connection with the Warrant Agent's duties, and it will not be liable for any action taken or suffered to be taken or omitted by it in good faith in accordance with the instructions of any such Officer.
- (f) Agents. The Warrant Agent may execute and exercise any of the rights and powers hereby vested in it or perform any duty hereunder either itself or by or through its attorneys, agents or employees, provided, however, reasonable care has been exercised in the selection and in the continued employment of any such attorney, agent or employee.
- (g) Other Acts. The Company will perform, execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be performed, executed, acknowledged and delivered all such further acts, instruments and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Warrant Agent in order to enable it to carry out or perform its duties under this Agreement.
- (h) Agreement as Source of Duties. The Warrant Agent will act hereunder solely as agent of the Company in a ministerial capacity, and its duties will be determined solely by the provisions hereof.
- 5.2 Right to Consult Counsel. The Warrant Agent may at any time consult with legal counsel satisfactory to it (who may be legal counsel for the Company) and the opinion of such counsel will be full and complete authorization and protection to the Warrant Agent as to any action taken, suffered or omitted by it in good faith in accordance with such opinion; provided, however, that the Warrant Agent will have exercised reasonable care in the selection of such counsel.

<PAGE>

- 5.3 Compensation and Reimbursement. The Company agrees to pay to the Warrant Agent from time to time compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder as set forth in the attached Exhibit D, and to reimburse the Warrant Agent for reasonable expenses and disbursements incurred in connection with the execution and administration of this Agreement (including the reasonable compensation and expenses of its counsel) except for expenses incurred as a result of the Warrant Agent's negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.
- 5.4 Indemnification. The Company agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability or expenses incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on its part, arising out of or in connection with the acceptance and administration of this Agreement, including the costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim or liability in connection with the exercise or performance of any of its powers or duties hereunder. In no case will either party be liable to the other party for special, indirect, incidental or consequential loss or damages of any kind whatsoever (including, but not limited to, lost profits), even if such party has been advised of the possibility of such damages.
- 5.5 Warrant Agent May Hold Company Securities. The Warrant Agent and any stockholder, director, officer or employee of the Warrant Agent may buy, sell or deal in any of the Warrants or other securities of the Company or its affiliates or have a pecuniary interest in any transaction in which the Company or its affiliates may be interested, or contract with or lend money to the Company or its affiliates or otherwise act as fully and freely as though it were not the Warrant Agent under this Agreement. Nothing herein will preclude the Company and its affiliates from engaging the Warrant Agent in any other capacity.
- 5.6 Change of Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent may resign and be discharged from its duties under this Agreement upon 90 calendar days' prior notice in writing mailed, by registered or certified mail, to the Company. The Company may remove the Warrant Agent or any successor warrant agent upon 60 calendar days' prior notice in writing, mailed to the Warrant Agent or successor warrant agent, as the case may be, by registered or certified mail. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Warrant Agent becomes incapable of acting or is adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent or a receiver of the Warrant Agent or its property is appointed or any public officer takes control of the Warrant Agent or its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation, then the Company may remove the Warrant Agent immediately. If the Warrant Agent resigns or is removed or otherwise becomes incapable of acting, the Company will appoint a successor to the Warrant Agent and will, within 30 calendar days following such appointment, give notice thereof in writing to each registered holder of the Warrant Certificates. If the Company fails to make such appointment within a period of 30 calendar days after giving notice of such removal or after it has been notified in writing of such resignation or incapacity by the resigning or incapacitated Warrant Agent, then the Company agrees to perform the duties of the Warrant Agent hereunder until a successor warrant agent is appointed. After appointment, the successor warrant agent will be vested with the same powers, rights, duties and responsibilities as if it had been originally named as Warrant Agent without further act or deed; but the former Warrant Agent will deliver and transfer to the successor Warrant Agent any property at the time held by it hereunder, and execute and deliver any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed necessary for this purpose. Failure to give any notice provided for in this Section, however, or any defect therein will not affect the legality or validity of the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent or the appointment of the successor warrant agent, as the case

#### Article VI

#### Rights of Holders

6.1 Holders not Stockholders. No Holder, as such, will be entitled to vote or to receive dividends or otherwise will be deemed to be the holder of shares of Common Stock for any purpose, nor will anything contained herein or in any Warrant Certificate be construed to confer upon any Holder, as such, any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company or any right to vote upon or give or withhold consent to any action of the Company (whether upon any reorganization, issuance of securities, reclassification or conversion of

13

#### <PAGE>

Common Stock, consolidation, merger, sale, lease, conveyance or otherwise), receive notice of meetings or other action affecting stockholders (except for notices expressly provided for in this Agreement) or receive dividends or subscription rights, unless and until such Warrant Certificate will have been surrendered for exercise as provided in this Agreement, payment in respect of such exercise will have been received by the Warrant Agent, and shares of Common Stock will have become issuable thereunder and such person will have been deemed to have become a holder of record of such shares. No Holder will, upon the exercise of Warrants, be entitled to any dividends if the record date with respect to payment of such dividends will be a date prior to the date such shares of Common Stock became issuable upon the exercise of such Warrants.

- 6.2 Claims by Holders. All rights of action in respect of the Warrants will be vested in the respective Holders; provided, however, that no Holder will have the right to enforce, institute or maintain any suit, action or proceeding against the Company to enforce, or otherwise act in respect of, the Warrants, unless (a) such Holder has previously given written notice to the Company of the substance of such dispute, and the Holders of at least 25% of the issued and outstanding Warrants have given written notice to the Company of their support for the institution of such proceeding to resolve such dispute, (b) such Holder has previously given written notice to the Warrant Agent of the substance of such dispute and of the support for the institution of such proceeding and (c) the Warrant Agent has not instituted appropriate proceedings with respect to such dispute within 30 days following the date of such written notice to the Warrant Agent, it being understood and intended that the Warrant Agent has no obligation to institute proceedings and that no one or more Holders will have the right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights of any other Holders, or to obtain or to seek to obtain priority or preference over any other Holders or to enforce any rights of the Holders, except in the manner described in this Section 6.2 for the equal and ratable benefit of all Holders. Except as described above, no Holder will have the right to enforce, institute or maintain any suit, action or proceeding to enforce, or otherwise act in respect of, the Warrants.
- 6.3 Control of Litigation. The Bank will retain sole and exclusive control of the Litigation and will retain 100% of any recovery from the Litigation. The Holders will not have any right to control or manage the course or disposition of the Litigation or the proceeds of any recovery therefrom or any rights against the Company for any decision regarding the conduct of the Litigation or disposition of the Litigation for an amount less than the amount claimed in damages in the Litigation, regardless of the effect on the value of the Warrants.

6.4 Determination of Values. The determination of the Board of the Adjusted Litigation Recovery, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of a Warrant and the Exercise Price will be final, conclusive and binding upon the Holders.

#### Article VII

#### Miscellaneous

- 7.1 Information. So long as any Warrant remains outstanding, the Company will deliver to the Warrant Agent and the Holders its annual report to stockholders and any other documents that the Company, in its discretion, deems appropriate.
- 7.2 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto without the consent of any Holder for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein or making any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under this Agreement as the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem necessary or desirable; provided, however, that such action will not affect adversely the rights of the Holders. Any amendment or supplement to this Agreement that has an adverse effect on the interests of the Holders will require the written consent of the Holders of a majority of the then outstanding Warrants. The consent of each Holder affected will be required for any amendment pursuant to which the Exercise Price would be increased or the number of Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of Warrants would be decreased (other than pursuant to adjustments provided for

14

#### <PAGE>

herein). In determining whether the Holders of the required number of Warrants have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent, Warrants owned by the Company or by any Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with the Company will be disregarded and deemed not to be outstanding, except that, for the purpose of determining whether the Warrant Agent will be protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Warrants which the Warrant Agent knows are so owned will be so disregarded. Also, subject to the foregoing, only Warrants outstanding at the time will be considered in any such determination.

- 7.3 Notices. Any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given hereunder by any party to the other will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, or by telecopy or telefacsimile, upon confirmation of receipt, (b) on the first business day following the date of dispatch if delivered by a recognized next-day courier service, or (c) on the third business day following the date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. All notices hereunder will be delivered as set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such notice.
  - (a) If to the Company:

James E. Kelly, Esq. General Counsel Dime Bancorp, Inc. 589 Fifth Avenue New York, New York 10017 Telecopy: (212) 326-6110 with a copy to:

Mitchell S. Eitel, Esq. Sullivan & Cromwell 125 Broad Street New York, New York 10004 Telecopy: (212) 558-3588

(b) If to Warrant Agent:

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. c/o EquiServe Limited Partnership 150 Royall Street Canton, MA 02021 Attn: Client Administration

Any notice or communication mailed to a Holder will be mailed to the Holder at the Holder's address as it appears on the Certificate Register and will be sufficiently given if so mailed within the time prescribed. Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it will not affect its sufficiency with respect to other Holders. If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee receives it.

- 7.4 GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED ENTIRELY WITHIN SUCH STATE.
- 7.5 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

15

<PAGE>

- 7.6 Entire Agreement, Etc. (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties, both written and oral, between the parties, with respect to the subject matter hereof, and (b) this Agreement will not be assignable by operation of law or otherwise (any attempted assignment in contravention hereof being null and void).
- 7.7 Counterparts and Facsimile. For the convenience of the parties hereto, this Agreement may be executed in any number of separate counterparts, each such counterpart being deemed to be an original instrument, and all such counterparts will together constitute the same agreement. Executed signature pages to this Agreement may be delivered by facsimile and such facsimiles will be deemed as sufficient as if actual signature pages had been delivered.
- 7.8 Captions. The Article, Section and paragraph captions herein are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Agreement and will not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect any of the provisions hereof.
- 7.9 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person (including, without limitation, the officers and directors of the Warrant Agent and the Company) or circumstance is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions hereof, or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or

unenforceable, will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereby, so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination, the parties will negotiate in good faith in an effort to agree upon a suitable and equitable substitute provision to effect the original intent of the parties.

- 7.10 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to confer upon any person or entity other than the parties hereto, any benefit right or remedies.
- 7.11 Successors. All agreements of the Company in this Agreement and the Warrant Certificates will bind its successors. All agreements of the Warrant Agent in this Agreement will bind its successors.

16

<PAGE>

In witness whereof, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

Dime Bancorp, Inc.
By: Name:
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. as Warrant Agent,
By: Name: Title:
EquiServe Limited Partnership as Warrant Agent,
By: Name: Title:

17

<PAGE>

EXHIBIT A

## [FORM OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

[Unless and until it is exchanged in whole or in part for Warrants in definitive form, this Warrant may not be transferred except as a whole by the depositary to a nominee of the depositary or by a nominee of the depositary to the depositary or another nominee of the depositary or by the depositary or any such nominee to a successor depositary or a nominee of such successor depositary. The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") (55 Water Street, New York, New York) will act as the depositary until a successor will be appointed by the Company and the Warrant Agent. Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of DTC to the issuer or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange or Amount Recovered, and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or such other name as requested by an

authorized representative of DTC (and any Amount Recovered is made to Cede & Co. or such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.]*

Dime Bancorp, Inc.

Litigation Tracking Warrant

No.

Certificate for Litigation Tracking Warrants to
Purchase Shares of Common Stock
of Dime Bancorp, Inc.

THIS CERTIFIES THAT, , or registered assigns, is the registered holder of the number of Litigation Tracking Warrants set forth above (the "Warrants"). Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof (the "Holder"), at its option and subject to the provisions contained herein and in the Warrant Agreement referred to below, to purchase from Dime Bancorp, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), the number of shares of Common Stock ("Warrant Shares"), par value of \$0.01 per share, of the Company (the "Common Stock") equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the product of (1) the Adjusted Stock Price multiplied by (2) the Maximum Number of Warrants, at an exercise price per Warrant equal to the number of shares of Common Stock for which one Warrant is exercisable multiplied by \$0.01 (the "Exercise Price"). This Warrant Certificate will terminate and become void on the earliest of (i) the Close of Business on the last day of the Warrant Exercise Period, (ii) the Close of Business on the date the Litigation has been disposed of in a manner such that no shares of Common Stock or other securities or property will be issuable under the terms of the Warrants and (iii) the time and date such Warrant is exercised.

This Warrant Certificate and each Warrant represented hereby are issued pursuant to and are subject in all respects to the terms and conditions contained in a Warrant Agreement dated as of December [ ], 2000, as such agreement may be amended from time to time (the "Warrant Agreement"), among the Company and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. and EquiServe Limited Partnership collectively as Warrant Agent (in such capacity, the "Warrant Agent", which term includes any successor Warrant Agent under the Warrant Agreement), to all of which terms and provisions the Holder of this Warrant Certificate consents by acceptance hereof. The Warrant Agreement is hereby incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. Reference is hereby made to the Warrant Agreement for a full statement of the respective rights, limitations of rights, duties and obligations of the Company, the Warrant Agent and the Holders of the Warrants. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein will have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Warrant Agreement. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be obtained for inspection by the Holder hereof upon written request to the Warrant Agent.

* To be included only if the Warrant is in global form.

A-1

<PAGE>

Subject to the terms of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants may be exercised in whole or in part by surrender of this Warrant Certificate with the form of election to purchase Warrant Shares attached hereto duly executed and with the simultaneous payment of the Exercise Price in cash (subject to adjustment) to

the Warrant Agent for the account of the Company at the office of the Warrant Agent. Payment of the Exercise Price will be made by certified or official bank check or personal check payable to the order of the Company or by wire transfer of funds to an account designated by the Company for such purpose. No fractional Warrant Shares will be issued upon the exercise of any Warrant, but the Company will pay cash in lieu of a fractional share as provided in the Warrant Agreement.

As provided in the Warrant Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions therein set forth, each Warrant will be exercisable at any time from and from time to time during the Warrant Exercise Period only and will not be exercisable after the expiration of the Warrant Exercise Period.

The Warrant Agreement provides that upon the occurrence of certain events the number of Warrant Shares may be, subject to certain conditions, adjusted.

The Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to pay all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges in connection with the transfer or exchange of the Warrant Certificates.

The holder in whose name the Warrant Certificate is registered may be deemed and treated by the Company and the Warrant Agent as the absolute owner of the Warrant Certificate for all purposes whatsoever and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent will be affected by notice to the contrary.

The Warrants represent a contingent right to purchase shares of Common Stock with an aggregate value based on a portion of any proceeds that may be received by the Bank from the Litigation. There can be no assurance as to when the Litigation will be resolved or the amount of proceeds, if any, the Bank will receive therefrom. The Holders will not have any right to control or manage the course or disposition of the Litigation or the proceeds of any recovery therefrom.

The Warrants do not entitle any holder hereof to any of the rights of a holder of any Common Stock or Preferred Stock of the Company.

A-2

<PAGE>

This Warrant Certificate will not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until it will have been countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

DIME BANCORP, INC.

	ву
[SEAL]	
Attest:	
Secretary	_
DATED:	
Countersigned: [as Warrant Agent,	1
by	_
Authorized Signatory	

# FORM OF ELECTION TO PURCHASE WARRANT SHARES (to be executed only upon exercise of Warrants)

#### DIME BANCORP, INC.

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise [ ] Warrants at an exercise price per Warrant of \$[ ] to acquire [ ] shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of Dime Bancorp, Inc. (the "Company"), on the terms and conditions specified in the within Warrant Certificate and the Warrant Agreement therein referred to, surrenders this Warrant Certificate and all right, title and interest therein to the Company, and directs that the shares of Common Stock deliverable upon the exercise of such Warrants be registered and delivered in the name and at the address specified below and delivered thereto.

Date: ,	
	(Signature of Owner)*
	(Street Address)
	(City) (State) (Zip Code)
- -	Signature Guaranteed by:
Securities and/or check to be issued to:	
Name:	
Social security or Federal tax identificati	ion number:
Street Address:	
City, State and Zip Code:	
Any unexercised Warrants evidenced by the vissued to:	
Name:	
Social security or Federal tax identificati	
Street Address:	
City, State and Zip Code:	

* The signature must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the within Warrant Certificate in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever, and must be guaranteed by a national bank or trust company or by a member firm of any national securities exchange.

B-1

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Warrant for definitive Warrants have been made:

# CERTIFICATE TO BE DELIVERED UPON EXCHANGE OR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER OF WARRANTS

Re: Warrants to Purchase Common Stock (the "Warrants") of Dime Bancorp, Inc. (the "Company")

This Certificate relates to Warrants held in definitive form by (the "Transferor").

The Transferor has requested the Warrant Agent by written order to exchange or register the transfer of a Warrant or Warrants. The Warrant Agent and the Company are entitled to rely upon this Certificate and are irrevocably authorized to produce this Certificate or a copy hereof to any interested party in any administrative or legal proceedings or official inquiry with respect to the matters covered hereby.

respect	to	the	matters	covered	hereby.					
						[INSERT	NAME	OF	TRANSFEROR]	
						by				
Date:										
					C-	1				
<td>ENT:</td> <td>&gt;</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	ENT:	>								

# EXHIBIT B

# 2003 AMENDED AND RESTATED

WARRANT AGREEMENT

Dated as of

March 11, 2003

between

WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC.

and

MELLON INVESTOR SERVICES LLC,

as the Warrant Agent

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

	Defined Terms	
1.1	Definitions	
1.2	Other Definitions	
ARTICLE II	Warrant Certificates	5
2.1	Issuance of Warrant Certificates	5
2.2	Form and Dating	 Z
2.3	Execution and Countersignature	0 ∠
2.4	Certificate Register	0
2.5	Transfer and Exchange	/
2.6	Replacement Certificates	٠9
2.7	Cancellation	9
2.8	Purchase of Warrants by the Company	9
ARTICLE I	II Exercise Terms	9
3.1	Number of Warrant Shares; Exercise Price	9
3.2	Exercise Period	10
3.3	Expiration	10
3.4	Manner of Exercise	
3.5	Issuance of Warrant Shares	11
3.6	Fractional Warrant Shares	12
3.7	Reservation of Warrant Shares	12
3.8	Compliance with Law	12
3.9	Holders Not Entitled to Interest	13
ARTICLE I	IV Adjustments	
4.1	Reclassifications, Redesignations or Reorganizations of Common Stock	13
4.2	Combination	1.3
4.3	Exercise Price Adjustment	14
4.4	Other Events	4
4.5	Notice of Certain Transactions	14
4.6	Adjustment to Warrant Certificate	15
ARTICLE	V Warrant Agent	15
5.1	Nature of Duties and Responsibilities Assumed	15
5.2	Right to Consult Counsel	17

5.3	Compensation and Reimbursement	
5.4	Indemnification	17
5.5	Warrant Agent May Hold Company Securities	
5.6	Change of Worrant Agent	.,,,,,,,, 8
5.7	Merger or Consolidation or Change of Name of Warrant Agent	18
ARTICLE VI	Rights of Holders	19
	Holders not Stockholders	
6.1	Holders not Stockholders	19
6.2	Claims by Holders	19
6.3	Control of Litigation	20
6.4	Determination of Values	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
ARTICLE VI	II Miscellaneous	20
<b>5</b> 1	Information	20
7.1	Amendment	20
7.2	Notices	20
7.3	Governing Law	21
7.4	Governing Law	21
7.5	Waiver of Jury Trial	71
7.6	Entire Agreement, Etc	77
7.7	Counterparts and Facsimile	ານ
7.8	Captions	 ንግ
7.9	Severability	
7.10	No Third-Party Beneficiaries	
7.11	Successors	
EXHIBIT A	- Form of Warrant Certificate	<i>y</i>
EXHIBIT B	Form of Election to Purchase Warrant Shares	
EXHIBIT C	- Certificate for Exchange of Global Warrant Certificate	
EXHIBITO	Fee Schedule	

THIS 2003 AMENDED AND RESTATED WARRANT AGREEMENT, dated as of March 11, 2003 (this "Agreement"), between Washington Mutual, Inc (the "Company"), successor by merger to DIME BANCORP, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Dime") and Mellon Investor Services LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company (the "Warrant Agent"), successor to EQUISERVE TRUST COMPANY, N.A. and EQUISERVE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, as Warrant Agent ("Equiserve"), amends and restates the Warrant Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2000, between Dime and Equiserve, as previously amended and restated by the parties hereto.

#### RECITALS

- A. The Board of Directors of Dime authorized a distribution of one Litigation Tracking WarrantTM (a "Warrant") for each share of Dime's common stock, par value \$0.01 per share (the "Dime Common Stock"), outstanding as of the Close of Business (as defined below) on the Record Date (as defined below). Each Warrant represents the right to purchase shares or a portion of a share of Dime's common stock (subject to adjustment as provided herein), upon the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth.
- B. The Board of Directors of Dime also authorized the issuance of Warrants to holders of outstanding Dime Convertible Securities (as defined herein) who exercise or convert such Dime Convertible Securities at any time and from time to time before the occurrence of the Trigger (as defined herein).
- C. On January 4, 2002, Dime merged with and into the Company (the "Merger") and the Company succeeded to Dime's rights and obligations with respect to the Warrants. As a result of the Merger, Warrant holders will be entitled to receive, if and when the Warrants are exercised and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, for each Warrant they hold, shares of Washington Mutual common stock (the "Common Stock").
- D. In order to issue Warrants to holders of options to purchase Common Stock, which options were previously Dime Convertible Securities prior to the Merger, who exercise or convert such options at any time and from time to time before the occurrence of the Trigger, and to set forth the terms of the Warrants following the Merger, the Company has determined to enter into this Agreement with the Warrant Agent.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties agree as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

#### **Defined Terms**

- 1.1 Definitions. As used in this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires:
- "Adjusted Litigation Recovery" means an amount equal to 85% of the amount obtained from the following equation: (a) the Amount Recovered minus (b) the sum of the following: (i) the total of all expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Bank and the Company in

pursuing the Litigation and obtaining the Amount Recovered (whether incurred before or after the date hereof), including, without limitation, fees and expenses of counsel, witnesses, experts and consultants, (ii) the total of all expenses incurred by the Company in connection with the creation, issuance and trading of the Warrants, including, without limitation, legal, financial advisory and accounting fees, the fees and expenses of the Warrant Agent and printing and registration costs (whether incurred before or after the date hereof) and (iii) an amount equal to the Amount Recovered, less the expenses described in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii), multiplied by the combined highest federal, New York State and New York City income tax rates applicable to financial institutions in the year (or years) in which the amount of the damages (in whole or in part) is fixed or determinable (after taking into account the effect of the deductibility of such taxes for federal and state income tax purposes).

"Adjusted Stock Price" means the average of the daily Closing Prices of a share of Common Stock for the thirty consecutive Trading Days ending on and including the Determination Date; provided, that if the context in which this defined term is used is with respect to securities other than shares of Common Stock, then "Adjusted Stock Price" means the average of the daily Closing Prices of a unit of such securities for the thirty consecutive Trading Days ending on and including the Determination Date minus the Exercise Price determined for such securities in the manner described in Section 4.3; and provided, further that if the context in which this defined term is used is with respect to property other than publicly traded securities, then "Adjusted Stock Price" means the Fair Market Value of the amount of such property distributable in respect of one share of Common Stock.

"Amount Recovered" means the aggregate amount of any cash payment and the Fair Market Value of any property or assets actually received by the Bank pursuant to a final, nonappealable judgment in or final settlement of the Litigation (including any post-judgment interest actually received by the Bank on any Amount Recovered).

"Assistant Secretary" means any assistant secretary or person of similar title of the Company.

"Bank" means Washington Mutual Bank, FA, a federal association or any successor thereto.

"Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of such Board of Directors.

"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in the State of New York or the State of Washington are authorized or required by law to close.

"Close of Business" on any given date means 5:00 P.M., Western time, on such date; provided, however, that if such date is not a Business Day it will mean 5:00 P.M., Western time, on the next succeeding Business Day.

"Closing Price" on any day means the closing sale price regular way (with any relevant due bills attached) of a share of Common Stock on such day, or in case no such sale takes place on such day, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices regular way

(with any relevant due bills attached) of a share of Common Stock, in each case on the NYSE Composite Tape (or any successor composite tape reporting transactions on national securities exchanges), or, if the Common Stock is not listed or admitted to trading on the NYSE, on the principal national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading (which will be the national securities exchange on which the greatest number of shares of Common Stock has been traded during the five consecutive Trading Days ending on and including the Determination Date), or, if not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of the closing bid and asked prices regular way (with any relevant due bills attached) of a share of Common Stock on the over-the-counter market on the day in question as reported by NASDAQ, or a similar generally accepted reporting service, or if not so available as determined in good faith by the Board, on the basis of such relevant factors as it in good faith considers appropriate.

"Combination" means an event in which the Company consolidates with, merges with or into, or sells all or substantially all its property and assets to another Person.

"Determination Date" means the 30th calendar day before the date on which the Bank receives the total amount of the Amount Recovered unless such date is not a Trading Day, in which case the Determination Date will be the next succeeding Trading Day. If the Amount Recovered is payable by the United States Government in installments, the Determination Date will be the 30th calendar day before the date on which the Bank receives the last installment of the Amount Recovered unless such date is not a Trading Day, in which case the Determination Date will be the next succeeding Trading Day.

"Dime Exchange Ratio" means 1.1232, which is the "Exchange Ratio" as defined and calculated in accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 25, 2001, by and between the Company and Dime.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Fair Market Value" means the fair market value of the relevant property on the Determination Date as determined in good faith by the Board, on the basis of such factors as it in good faith considers appropriate.

"Holder" means the duly registered holder of a Warrant under the terms of this Agreement.

"Litigation" means the Bank's case against the United States Government in the United States Court of Federal Claims entitled Anchor Savings Bank, FSB v. United States, No. 95-39C, filed on January 13, 1995.

"NASDAQ" means the stock market and automated quotation system operated by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

"NYSE" means the stock exchange operated by The New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

"Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer, the President, any Senior Executive Vice President or any Executive Vice President of the Company.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

"Record Date" means December 22, 2000.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Secretary" means the secretary of the Company.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Trading Day" means a date on which the NYSE or NASDAQ (or any successor thereto) is open for the transaction of business.

"Trigger" means the occurrence of all of the following events: (a) receipt by the Bank of the Amount Recovered in full, (b) determination by the Bank of the amount of the Adjusted Litigation Recovery and (c) receipt of all regulatory approvals necessary to issue the shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the exercise of the Warrants, including without limitation, the effectiveness of a registration statement relating to the issuance of the Warrant Shares under the Securities Act.

"Warrant Shares" means the shares of Common Stock of the Company issued and received upon exercise of the Warrants.

### 1.2 Other Definitions.

	Defined in
<u>Term</u>	<u>Section</u>
44	2.2(c)
"Agent Members"	2.4
"Certificate Register"	4.7 0.07-1
"Certificated Warrants"	2.2(a)
"Common Stock"	Recitals
"Company"	Recitals
"Dime"	Recitals
"Dime Common Stock"	Recitals
"Dime Convertible Securities"	2.1(a)
"DTC"	2.2(b)
"Exercise Notice"	3.2
**Lxercise Nonce*	3.1
"Exercise Price"	.,
"Global Warrant"	2.2(0)
"Maximum Number of Warrants"	2.1(b)
"Merger"	Recitais
"Number of Shortfall Shares"	3.7(ъ)

"Registrar"	3.7(a)
"Successor Company"	4,2(b)
"Successor Warrant Agent"	5.6
"Termination Date"	3.3
"Termination Notice"	3.3
"Termination Notice"	٦ ٣
"Transfer Agent"	Pecitale
"Warrant"	Paoitala
"Warrant Agent"	7 1/a
"Warrant Certificate"	2.1(a)
"Warrant Exercise Period"	3.2(6)

### ARTICLE II

## Warrant Certificates

- 2.1 <u>Issuance of Warrant Certificates</u>. (a) At any time and from time to time before the Trigger occurs, the Company may instruct the Warrant Agent in writing to issue, in accordance with its instructions and the provisions of this Article 2, one or more Warrant Certificates, in substantially the form of Exhibit A hereto (a "Warrant Certificate"), evidencing Warrants to holders of stock options of the Company that were outstanding on the Record Date as options to purchase Dime Common Stock (all options to purchase Dime Common Stock outstanding as of the Record Date, the "Dime Convertible Securities") to such holders who exercise or convert such Dime Convertible Securities into shares of Common Stock and Warrants in accordance with the terms and conditions of such Dime Convertible Securities.
- (b) The maximum number of Warrants (the "Maximum Number of Warrants") that may be issued hereunder is equal to 112,975,597 (the sum of (i) the number of shares of Dime Common Stock that were outstanding on the Record Date plus (ii) the number of Warrants issuable to holders of Dime Convertible Securities had all Dime Convertible Securities been exercised immediately before the Record Date).
- Exhibit A, hereto. The Warrants may have such notations, legends or endorsements as the Company may deem appropriate, which do not affect the rights, duties or responsibilities of the Warrant Agent, and as are not inconsistent with the provisions hereof or as may be required by law, stock exchange or stock market rule, agreements to which the Company is subject, if any, or usage (provided that any such notation, legend or endorsement is in a form acceptable to the Company). Each Warrant will be dated the date of its countersignature.
- (a) <u>Certificated Warrants</u>. The Warrants may be issued in definitive form represented by a physical Warrant Certificate (such certificate and all other certificates representing physical delivery of Warrants in definitive form being called "Certificated Warrants").
- (b) Global Warrant. The Warrants may be issued in the form of one or more fully registered global certificates with the global securities legend set forth in Exhibit A hereto (the "Global Warrant"), which will be registered on the records of the Warrant Agent on behalf

of beneficial owners of Warrants and in the name of the Depository Trust Company ("DTC") or a nominee of DTC, duly executed by the Company and countersigned by the Warrant Agent as hereinafter provided. The number of Warrants represented by Global Warrants may from time to time be increased or decreased by adjustments made on the records of the Warrant Agent and DTC or its nominee as hereinafter provided. Except as provided in Section 2.5, owners of beneficial interests in a Global Warrant will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of Certificated Warrants.

- Members") will have no rights under this Agreement with respect to any Global Warrant held on their behalf with DTC or by the Warrant Agent or under such Global Warrant, and DTC may be treated by the Company, the Warrant Agent and any agent of the Company or the Warrant Agent as the absolute owner of such Global Warrant for all purposes whatsoever. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein will prevent the Company, the Warrant Agent or any agent of the Company or the Warrant Agent from giving effect to any written certification, proxy or other authorization furnished by DTC or impair, as between DTC and its Agent Members, the operation of customary practices of DTC governing the exercise of the rights of a holder of a beneficial interest in any Global Warrant.
- 2.3 Execution and Countersignature. (a) With respect to any Global Warrant to be issued hereunder, one Officer will sign, and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary will attest, such Global Warrant. The Warrant Agent, upon the written instruction of the Company signed by an Officer, will countersign any Global Warrant certificate by manual or facsimile signature, and such Global Warrant will be registered in accordance with Section 2.2(b) hereof.
- (b) With respect to all other Warrants, an Officer will sign, and the Company's Secretary or any of its Assistant Secretaries will attest, the Warrant Certificates for the Company by manual or facsimile signature. The Warrant Agent will countersign and deliver the Warrant Certificates for original issue, in each case upon a written instruction of the Company signed by an Officer of the Company. Such instruction will specify (in addition to the number of Warrants) the date on which the original issue of Warrants is to be countersigned.
- (c) If an Officer whose signature is on a Warrant Certificate no longer holds that office at the time the Warrant Agent countersigns the Warrant Certificate, the Warrant will be valid nevertheless. A Warrant will not be valid until an authorized signatory of the Warrant Agent manually countersigns the Warrant Certificate. The signature will be conclusive evidence that the Warrant Certificate has been countersigned under this Agreement.
- (d) The Warrant Agent may appoint an agent reasonably acceptable to the Company to countersign the Warrant Certificates. Unless limited by the terms of such appointment, such agent may countersign Warrant Certificates whenever the Warrant Agent may do so. Each reference in this Agreement to countersignature by the Warrant Agent includes countersignature by such agent. Such agent will have the same rights as the Warrant Agent for service of notices and demands.
- 2.4 <u>Certificate Register</u>. The Warrant Agent will keep a register (the "Certificate Register") of the Warrant Certificates and of their transfer and exchange which the Company

may examine upon reasonable written notice. The Certificate Register will show the names and addresses of the respective Holders and the date and number of Warrants evidenced on the face of each of the Warrant Certificates. The Company and the Warrant Agent may deem and treat the Person in whose name a Warrant Certificate is registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant Certificate and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent will be affected by any notice to the contrary.

## 2.5 Transfer and Exchange.

- Warrants are presented to the Warrant Agent with a request to register the transfer or exchange of such Certificated Warrants, the Warrant Agent will register the transfer or make the exchange as requested; provided, that the Certificated Warrants surrendered for transfer or exchange have been duly endorsed or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form reasonably satisfactory to the Company and the Warrant Agent, duly executed by the Holder thereof or its attorney duly authorized in writing.
- (b) Restrictions on Transfer of Certificated Warrants for a Beneficial Interest in a Global Warrant. Certificated Warrants may not be exchanged for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant except upon satisfaction of the requirements set forth below. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent of Certificated Warrants, duly endorsed or accompanied by appropriate instruments of transfer, in form satisfactory to the Warrant Agent, together with written instructions directing the Warrant Agent to make, or to direct DTC to make, an adjustment on its books and records with respect to such Global Warrants to reflect an increase in the number of Warrants represented by the Global Warrant, then the Warrant Agent will, and is hereby instructed to, cancel such Certificated Warrants and cause, or direct DTC to cause, the number of Warrants represented by the Global Warrant to be increased accordingly.
- (c) <u>Transfer and Exchange of Global Warrants</u>. The transfer and exchange of beneficial interests in a Global Warrant will be effected through DTC, in accordance with this Agreement and the procedures of DTC.
- (d) Restrictions on Transfer and Exchange of the Global Warrant.

  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, Global Warrants may not be transferred as a whole except by DTC to a nominee of DTC or by a nominee of DTC to DTC or another nominee of DTC or by DTC or any such nominee to a successor depositary or a nominee of such successor depositary.
  - (e) Authentication and Distribution of Certificated Warrants. If at any time:
    - (i) DTC notifies the Company that DTC is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for Global Warrants and a successor depositary for Global Warrants is not appointed by the Company within 90 calendar days after delivery of such notice;
    - (ii) DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act; or

(iii) the Company, in its sole discretion, notifies the Warrant Agent in writing that it elects to cause the issuance of Certificated Warrants under this Agreement;

then, the Company will execute, and the Warrant Agent, upon receipt of a written order of the Company signed by an Officer requesting the delivery of Certificated Warrants to the holders of beneficial interests in the Global Warrant, will countersign and deliver Certificated Warrants equal to the number of Warrants represented by Global Warrants, in exchange for such Global Warrants. Certificated Warrants issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Global Warrant will be registered in such names and in such authorized denominations as DTC, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, will instruct the Warrant Agent in writing. The Warrant Agent is hereby instructed to deliver such Certificated Warrants to the Persons in whose names such Warrants are so registered in accordance with the written instructions of DTC.

beneficial interests in Global Warrants have either been exchanged for Certificated Warrants, redeemed, repurchased or canceled, such Global Warrant will be returned to DTC for cancellation or retained and canceled by the Warrant Agent. At any time before such cancellation, if any beneficial interest in a Global Warrant is exchanged for Certificated Warrants, redeemed, repurchased or canceled, the number of Warrants represented by such Global Warrant will be reduced and an adjustment will be made on the books and records of the Warrant Agent with respect to such Global Warrant, by the Warrant Agent or DTC, to reflect such reduction.

# (g) Obligations with Respect to Transfers and Exchanges of Warrants.

- (i) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Company will execute and the Warrant Agent will countersign Certificated Warrants and Global Warrants as required pursuant to the provisions of this Section 2.5.
- (ii) All Certificated Warrants and Global Warrants issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Certificated Warrants will be the valid obligations of the Company, entitled to the same benefits under this Agreement as the Certificated Warrants or Global Warrants surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange.
- (iii) Before due presentment for registration of transfer of any Warrant, the Warrant Agent and the Company may deem and treat the Person in whose name any Warrant is registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant and neither the Warrant Agent nor the Company will be affected by any notice to the contrary.
- (iv) No service charge will be made to a Holder for any registration of transfer or exchange upon surrender of any Warrant Certificate at the office of the Warrant Agent maintained for that purpose. The Company

may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any registration of transfer or exchange of Warrant Certificates. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or obligation under this Section 25 unless and until it is satisfied tat all such taxes and/or changes have been paid in full.

- 2.6 Replacement Certificates. If a mutilated Warrant Certificate is surrendered to the Warrant Agent or if the Holder of a Warrant Certificate claims that the Warrant Certificate has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Company will issue and the Warrant Agent will countersign a replacement Warrant Certificate. If required by the Warrant Agent or the Company, such Holder will furnish an indemnity bond or other instrument sufficient in the judgment of the Company and the Warrant Agent to protect the Company and the Warrant Agent from any loss which either of them may suffer if a Warrant Certificate is replaced. The Company and the Warrant Agent may charge the Holder for their expenses in replacing a Warrant Certificate.
- 2.7 <u>Cancellation</u>. (a) In the event the Company will purchase or otherwise acquire Certificated Warrants, the same will thereupon be delivered to the Warrant Agent for cancellation.
- (b) The Warrant Agent and no one else will cancel and destroy all Warrant Certificates surrendered for transfer, exchange, replacement, exercise or cancellation and deliver a certificate of such destruction to the Company unless the Company directs the Warrant Agent to deliver canceled Warrant Certificates to the Company. The Company may not issue new Warrant Certificates to replace Warrant Certificates to the extent they evidence Warrants that have been exercised or Warrants that the Company has purchased or otherwise acquired.
- 2.8 <u>Purchase of Warrants by the Company</u>. The Company will have the right, except as limited by law or other agreement, to purchase or otherwise acquire Warrants at such times, in such manner and for such consideration as it may deem appropriate.

#### ARTICLE III

#### **Exercise Terms**

thereof and subject to adjustment as provided herein, entitle the Holder thereof to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the quotient of (a) the quotient of (i) the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by (ii) the Maximum Number of Warrants (112,975,597), divided by (b) the product of (x) the Adjusted Stock Price, and (y) the Dime Exchange Ratio (1.1232), upon surrender or cancellation of the Warrant and payment of an exercise price per Warrant equal to the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Warrant is exercisable multiplied by the Exercise Price (as defined below). All calculations made pursuant to this Section 3.1 will be performed by the Company (with written notice of any such calculation to the Warrant Agent) and shall be rounded to the nearest ten-thousandth. As of the date of this Agreement, the "Exercise Price" is zero dollars and zero cents (\$0.00) per each whole share of Common Stock, but shall be subject to adjustment as provided in this Agreement. The Warrant Agent shall not

be deemed to have knowledge of any such calculations made pursuant to this Section 3.1 unless and until it has received written notice thereof, and the Warrant Agent shall have no duty or obligation to inquire as to whether any such calculation is accurate.

- below (the "Exercise Period. (a) The Company will provide written notice, as described below (the "Exercise Notice") to each Holder and the Warrant Agent, of the occurrence of the Trigger not more than 15 calendar days after the occurrence thereof. If the Amount Recovered is payable by the United States government in installments, the Trigger will not be deemed to have occurred until the Bank receives the last installment of the Amount Recovered. The Exercise Notice will be dated the date it is first sent to Holders and the Warrant Agent and will be provided by means of a press release to one or more national news services and by mailing such notice first class, postage prepaid, to each Holder at such Holder's address as it appears on the Certificate Register; provided, however, that neither the failure to give such notice by mail to any particular Holder or the Warrant Agent nor any defect therein will affect the validity of the Exercise Notice or the expiration of all Warrants on the Close of Business on the last day of the Warrant Exercise Period with respect to the other Holders. The Exercise Notice will contain the following information:
  - (i) that the Trigger has occurred,
  - (ii) the total number of shares for which the Warrants are exercisable,
  - (iii) the number of shares of Common Stock for which one Warrant is exercisable,
  - (iv) the Exercise Price (if any) per Warrant,
  - (v) the manner in which the Warrants are exercisable, and
  - (vi) the date on which the Warrants will no longer be exercisable.
- (b) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Warrant will be exercisable at any time or from time to time during the 60-day period commencing on the date on which the Exercise Notice is first sent to Holders and the Warrant Agent pursuant to Section 3.2(a) (the "Warrant Exercise Period").
- (c) No Warrant will be exercisable after the Close of Business on the last day of the Warrant Exercise Period.
- 2.3 Expiration. A Warrant will terminate and become void as of the earlier of (a) the Close of Business on the last day of the Warrant Exercise Period, (b) the Close of Business on the date the Litigation has been disposed of in a manner such that no shares of Common Stock or other securities or property will be issuable under the terms of the Warrants (and the Agent shall receive prompt written notice thereof)(the "Termination Date") or (c) the time and date such Warrant is exercised. The Company will provide notice, as described below (the "Termination Notice"), of the occurrence of the Termination Date or the expiration of the Warrant Exercise Period not more than 60 calendar days after the occurrence thereof to the Holders and the Warrant Agent. The Termination Notice will be dated the date it is first sent to Holders and the

Warrant Agent and will be provided by means of a press release to one or more national news services and by mailing such notice first class, postage prepaid, to each Holder at such Holder's address as it appears on the Certificate Register. The Termination Notice will state the following:

- (i) that the Termination Date has occurred or the Warrant Exercise Period has expired, as the case may be, and
- (ii) that all outstanding Warrants have terminated and become void.

The Warrants will terminate and become void as provided herein notwithstanding the Company's failure to give the Termination Notice. The Warrant Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge the Termination Date has occurred, the Warrant Exercise Period has expired or the outstanding Warrants have terminated unless and until it shall have received written notice thereof.

- Manner of Exercise. Warrants may be exercised upon (i) surrender to the Warrant 3.4 Agent of the Warrant Certificates, together with the form of election to purchase Common Stock on the reverse thereof properly completed and validly executed by the Holder thereof and (ii) payment to the Warrant Agent, for the account of the Company, of the total Exercise Price (if any) for the number of Warrants being exercised. Such payment will be made by certified or official bank check or personal check payable to the order of the Company. Subject to Sections 3.2 and 3.3, the Warrants will be exercisable at the election of the Holders thereof either in full at any time or from time to time in part. In the event that a Warrant Certificate is surrendered for exercise in respect of less than all the Warrant Shares purchasable on such exercise at any time before the expiration of the Warrant Exercise Period a new Warrant Certificate exercisable for the remaining Warrant Shares will be issued and its exercise will also be subject to Sections 3.2 and 3.3. The Warrant Agent will countersign and deliver the required new Warrant Certificates, and the Company, at the Warrant Agent's request, will supply the Warrant Agent with Warrant Certificates duly signed on behalf of the Company for such purpose. The Warrant Agent will account promptly to the Company with respect to all Warrants exercised and concurrently pay to the Company all moneys received by the Warrant Agent for the purchase of shares of Common Stock through the exercise of such Warrants.
- Warrant Certificates and payment of the Exercise Price in accordance with Section 3.4, the Company will issue and cause the Warrant Agent or, if appointed, a transfer agent for the Common Stock ("Transfer Agent") to countersign and deliver to or upon the written order of the Holder and in such name or names as the Holder may designate, a certificate or certificates for the number of full Warrant Shares so purchased upon the exercise of such Warrants or such other securities or property to which it is entitled, to the Person or Persons entitled to receive the same, together with the payment of cash by the Company as provided in Section 3.6 in respect of any fractional Warrant Shares. Such certificate or certificates will be deemed to have been issued and any Person so designated to be named therein will be deemed to have become a holder of record of such Warrant Shares as of the date of the surrender of such Warrant Certificates and payment of the Exercise Price.

- 3.6 <u>Fractional Warrant Shares</u>. The Company will not issue fractional Warrant Shares. If any fraction of a Warrant Share would, except for this Section 3.6, be issuable, the Company will pay an amount in cash equal to (a) the sum of (i) the Adjusted Stock Price and (ii) the Exercise Price (if any) per whole Warrant Share that would have been received), multiplied by (b) such fraction. Such cash amount will be rounded to the nearest whole cent.
- 3.7 Reservation of Warrant Shares. (a) The Company will use its best efforts to at all times keep reserved and available out of its authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock held in its treasury a number of shares of Common Stock sufficient to provide for the exercise in full of all Warrants then outstanding or reserved for issuance pursuant to Section 2.1. The registrar for the Common Stock (the "Registrar") will at all times until the Termination Date, or the time at which all Warrants have been exercised or canceled, reserve such number of authorized shares as will be required for such purpose. The Company will keep a copy of this Agreement on file with the Registrar. The Company will supply such Registrar with duly executed stock certificates for such purpose and will itself provide or otherwise make available any cash which may be payable as provided in Section 3.6. The Company will furnish to such Registrar a copy of all notices of adjustments and certificates related thereto transmitted to each Holder.
- but not issued plus the number of shares of Common Stock held in the Company's treasury is less than the number of shares of Common Stock necessary to permit the exercise in full of the Warrants then outstanding or reserved for issuance pursuant to Section 2.1 (the number of shares of Common Stock comprising such deficiency being the "Number of Shortfall Shares"), then the Company will either (i) to the extent permitted by applicable law and any material agreements then in effect to which the Company is a party, commence a tender offer or buyback for the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock at least equal to the Number of Shortfall Shares or (ii) call a special meeting of the holders of Common Stock for the purpose of increasing the number of authorized shares of Common Stock in an amount at least equal to the Number of Shortfall Shares. In such an event, the Warrant Exercise Period will be automatically extended to 60 calendar days after (A) the date on which the tender offer or buyback referred to in clause (i) above is successfully completed or (B) the effective date of the increase in the number of authorized shares of Common Stock referred to in clause (ii) above.
- (c) The Company covenants that all shares of Common Stock that may be issued upon exercise of Warrants will, upon issue, be fully paid, nonassessable, free of preemptive rights, free from all taxes, liens, charges and security interests, created by or through the Company, with respect to the issue thereof.
- 3.8 Compliance with Law. (a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event will a Holder be entitled to exercise a Warrant unless (i) a registration statement filed under the Securities Act in respect of the issuance of the Warrant Shares is then effective or (ii) an exemption from such registration requirements is available to all Holders under the Securities Act at the time of such exercise.
- (b) If any shares of Common Stock required to be reserved for purposes of exercise of Warrants require, under any other Federal or state law or applicable governing rule or

regulation of any national securities exchange or stock market, registration with or approval of any governmental authority, or listing on any such national securities exchange or stock market before such shares may be issued upon exercise, the Company will cause such shares to be duly registered or approved by such governmental authority or listed on the relevant national securities exchange or stock market.

3.9 <u>Holders Not Entitled to Interest</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Holders will not be entitled to receive any interest or additional shares of our common stock for any period, including, without limitation, the period of time between the date on which the Bank receives the Amount Recovered (in full or in part) and the date on which the Warrants become exercisable.

#### ARTICLE IV

### Adjustments

- 4.1 Reclassifications, Redesignations or Reorganizations of Common Stock. (a) In the event that at any time or from time to time after the date hereof the Company will issue by reclassification, redesignation or reorganization of the shares of Common Stock any shares of capital stock of the Company then, in any such event, the Holders will have the right to receive upon exercise of each Warrant the number of shares of such capital stock of the Company equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the Maximum Number of Warrants divided by the aggregate Adjusted Stock Price of the capital stock of the Company that 1.1232 shares of Common Stock were exchanged for or converted into as a result of such reclassification, redesignation or reorganization.
- (b) The proportion and type of capital stock of the Company that the Holders will have the right to receive in the circumstance set forth in Section 4.1(a) will be in the same proportion and type as one share of Common Stock was exchanged for or converted into as a result of such reclassification, redesignation or reorganization. Such adjustment will become effective immediately after the effective date of such reclassification, redesignation or reorganization. In the event of the occurrence of more than one of the foregoing, such adjustments will be made successively.
- 4.2 <u>Combination</u>. (a) Except as provided in Section 4.2(c), in the event of a Combination, the Holders will have the right to receive upon exercise of each Warrant the number of shares of capital stock or other securities or an amount of property equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the Maximum Number of Warrants divided by the aggregate Adjusted Stock Price of the capital stock, other securities or property that 1.1232 shares of Common Stock were exchanged for or converted into as a result of such Combination.
- (b) The proportion and type of capital stock, other securities or property that the Holders will have the right to receive in the circumstance set forth in Section 4.2(a) will be in the same proportion and type as one share of Common Stock was exchanged for or converted into as a result of such Combination. The provisions of this Section 4.2 will similarly apply to successive Combinations involving the surviving or acquiring Person (the "Successor Company") in any Combination.

- (c) In the event of a Combination where consideration is payable to holders of Common Stock in exchange for their shares solely in cash, the Holders will have the right to receive upon exercise of each Warrant cash in an amount equal to the Adjusted Litigation Recovery divided by the Maximum Number of Warrants, less the Exercise Price (if any). In case of any Combination described in this Section 4.2(c), the surviving or acquiring Person will promptly after the occurrence of the Trigger deposit with the Warrant Agent the funds necessary to pay to the Holders of the Warrants the amounts to which they are entitled as described above. After such funds and the surrendered Warrant Certificates are received, the Warrant Agent is hereby instructed to make payment to the Holders by delivering a check in such amount as is appropriate to such Person or Persons as it may be directed in writing by the Holders surrendering such Warrants. No interest will accrue to the Holders or the surviving or acquiring Person on such funds.
- (d) The Company hereby represents and warrants that any Successor Company will enter into, and the Company will provide, an agreement with the Warrant Agent confirming the Holders' rights pursuant to this Section 4.2 and providing for adjustments, which will be as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustments provided for in this Article IV.
- 4.3 Exercise Price Adjustment. In case of any reclassification, redesignation or reorganization described in Section 4.1 or any Combination described in Section 4.2, the Exercise Price of one Warrant after such reclassification, redesignation, reorganization or Combination will equal (i) if the Warrants are exercisable into stock only or stock and any cash or property other than cash which is received instead of any fractional share of stock, the per share par value (if any) of such stock multiplied by the number of shares of such stock into which one Warrant is exercisable and (ii) if the Warrants are exercisable for cash or property only, \$0.01. The Exercise Price may be adjusted, to the extent permitted by law, in such manner, if any, and at such time, as the Board may determine in good faith to be equitable in the circumstances. The Warrant Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any such adjustment of the Exercise Price unless and until it has received written notice thereof.
- 4.4 Other Events. If any event occurs as to which the foregoing provisions of this Article IV are not strictly applicable or, if strictly applicable, would not, in the good faith judgment of the Board, fairly and adequately protect the purchase rights of the Holders of the Warrants in accordance with the essential intent and principles of such provisions, then the Board may make, without the consent of the Holders, such adjustments to the terms of this Article IV, in accordance with such essential intent and principles, as will be reasonably necessary, in the good faith opinion of such Board, to protect such purchase rights as aforesaid.
- 4.5 Notice of Certain Transactions. In the event that the Company will publicly announce a plan (a) to effect any reclassification, redesignation or reorganization of its shares of Common Stock, (b) to effect any capital reorganization, consolidation or merger or (c) to effect the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, the Company will within 5 calendar days after such public announcement send to the Warrant Agent and the Warrant Agent will within 5 Business Days after receipt of such notice thereof and the form of notice of action, send the Holders a notice (in such form as will be furnished to the Warrant Agent by the Company) of such proposed action, such notice to be mailed by the

Warrant Agent to the Holders at their addresses as they appear in the Certificate Register, which notice will specify the expected date that such issuance or event is to take place and the expected date of participation therein by the holders of Common Stock and will briefly indicate the effect of such action on the Common Stock and on the number and kind of any other shares of stock and on other securities or property, if any, and the number of shares of Common Stock and other securities or property, if any, purchasable upon exercise of each Warrant and the Exercise Price after giving effect to any adjustment which will be required as a result of such action.

4.6 Adjustment to Warrant Certificate. The form of Warrant Certificate need not be changed because of any adjustment made pursuant to this Article IV, and Warrant Certificates issued after such adjustment may have the same terms and conditions as are stated in any Warrant Certificates issued prior to the adjustment. The Company, however, may at any time in its sole discretion make any change in the form of Warrant Certificate that it may deem appropriate to give effect to such adjustments, which do not affect the rights, duties or responsibilities of the Warrant Agent and that does not affect the substance of the Warrant Certificate, and any Warrant Certificate thereafter issued or countersigned, whether in exchange or substitution for an outstanding Warrant Certificate or otherwise, may be in the form as so changed.

#### ARTICLE V

## Warrant Agent

# 5.1 Nature of Duties and Responsibilities Assumed.

- (a) Appointment. The Company hereby appoints the Warrant Agent to act as agent of the Company as expressly set forth in this Agreement. The Warrant Agent hereby accepts the appointment as agent of the Company and agrees to perform that agency upon the express terms and conditions herein set forth (and no implied duties or obligations), by all of which the Company and the Warrant Holders, by their acceptance thereof, will be bound.
- Agreement, the Warrant Agent will deem it necessary or desirable that any fact or matter be proved or established by the Company prior to taking, suffering or omitting any action hereunder, such fact or matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a certificate signed by an Officer and delivered to the Warrant Agent; and such certificate will be full authorization to the Warrant Agent and the Warrant Agent shall incur no liability for or in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted in good faith by it under the provisions of this Agreement in reliance upon such certificate.
- only for its own gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct, as each is finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. The Warrant Agent will not be liable for or by reason of any of the statements of fact or recitals contained in this Agreement or in the Warrant Certificates or be required to verify the same, but all such statements and recitals are and will be deemed to have been made by the Company only. The Warrant Agent will not have any liability

or responsibility in respect of the legality, validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the execution and delivery hereof (except the due execution hereof by the Warrant Agent) or in respect of the validity or execution of any Warrant Certificate (except its countersignature thereof); nor will it be responsible or liable for any breach by the Company of any covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or in any Warrant Certificate; nor will it be responsible or liable for the making of any change in the number of shares of Common Stock required under the provisions of Article IV or responsible for the manner, method or amount of any such change or the ascertaining of the existence of any facts that would require any such adjustment or change; nor will it by any act hereunder be deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization or reservation of any shares of Common Stock to be issued pursuant to this Agreement or any Warrant Certificate or as to whether any shares of Common Stock will, when issued, be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. The Warrant Agent will not be responsible or liable for any failure of the Company to comply with any of the covenants contained in this Agreement or in the Warrant Certificates to be complied with by the Company. The Warrant Agent will not incur any liability or responsibility to the Company or to any Warrant Holder for any action taken, suffered or omitted, in reliance on any notice, resolution, waiver, consent, order, instruction, certificate, or other paper, document or instrument reasonably believed by the Warrant Agent to be genuine and to have been signed, sent or presented by the proper party or parties. Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, in no event shall the Warrant Agent be liable for special, punitive, indirect, consequential or incidental loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (including but not limited to lost profits), even if the Warrant Agent has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage. Any liability of the Warrant Agent under this Agreement will be limited to the amount of fees paid by the Company to the Warrant Agent. The provisions provided in this Section shall survive to termination of this Agreement and the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent hereunder.

- (d) <u>Litigation</u>. The Warrant Agent will be under no obligation to institute any action, suit or legal proceeding or take any other action likely to involve expense unless the Company or one or more Holders of Warrants will furnish the Warrant Agent with security and indemnity satisfactory to the Warrant Agent for any costs and expenses which may be incurred. All rights of action under this Agreement or under any of the Warrants may be enforced by the Warrant Agent without the possession of any of the Warrants or the production thereof at any trial or other proceeding relative thereto, and any such action, suit or proceeding instituted by the Warrant Agent will be brought in its name as Warrant Agent and any recovery of judgment, except for judgments relating to claims of indemnification and compensation due the Warrant Agent hereunder, will be for the ratable benefit of the Holders of the Warrants, as their respective rights or interests may appear. The Warrant Agent will promptly notify the Company in writing of any claim made or action, suit or proceeding instituted against it arising out of or in connection with this Agreement.
- (e) <u>Instructions from the Company</u>. The Warrant Agent is hereby authorized and directed to accept written instructions, orders or other communications, with respect to the performance of its duties hereunder from an Officer, and to apply to any such Officer for advice or instructions in connection with the Warrant Agent's duties, and it will not be liable for or in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it in good faith in accordance with the instructions of any such Officer.

- and powers hereby vested in it or perform any of its duty or obligation hereunder either itself or by or through its attorneys or agents and the Warrant Agent shall not be answerable or accountable for any act, default, neglect or misconduct of any such attorneys or agent or for any loss to the Company, any Holder, or any other Person, resulting from such act, default, neglect or misconduct, absent gross negligence or willful misconduct, as each is finally determined b a court of competent jurisdiction, in the selection and in the continued employment of any such attorney or agent.
- (g) Other Acts. The Company will perform, execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be performed, executed, acknowledged and delivered all such further acts, instruments and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Warrant Agent in order to enable it to carry out or perform its duties under this Agreement.
- (h) Agreement as Source of Duties. The Warrant Agent will act hereunder solely as agent of the Company in a ministerial capacity, and its duties will be determined solely by the expressed provisions hereof.
- 5.2 <u>Right to Consult Counsel</u>. The Warrant Agent may at any time consult with legal counsel satisfactory to it (who may be legal counsel for the Company) and the advice or opinion of such counsel will be full and complete authorization and protection to the Warrant Agent as to any action taken, suffered or omitted by it in good faith in accordance with such advice or opinion.
- Agent from time to time compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder as set forth in the attached Exhibit D, and to reimburse the Warrant Agent for reasonable expenses and disbursements incurred in connection with the preparation, delivery, execution, amendment and administration of this Agreement (including the reasonable compensation and expenses of its counsel). The provisions of this Section 5.3 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent. The costs and expenses incurred in enforcing this right of compensation shall be paid by the Company.
- 5.4 <u>Indemnification</u>. The Company agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability, damage, judgment, fine, penalty, claim, demand, settlement, cost or expenses incurred without gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on its part (as each is finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction) for any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Warrant Agent in connection with the acceptance and administration of this Agreement or the exercise or performance of its duties hereunder, including, without limitation, the costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim or liability in connection with the exercise or performance of any of its powers or duties hereunder. The indemnity provided herein shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent. The costs and expenses incurred in enforcing this right of indemnification shall be paid by the Company.
- 5.5 <u>Warrant Agent May Hold Company Securities</u>. The Warrant Agent and any stockholder, director, officer affiliate or employee of the Warrant Agent may buy, sell or deal in

any of the Warrants or other securities of the Company or its affiliates or have a pecuniary interest in any transaction in which the Company or its affiliates may be interested, or contract with or lend money to the Company or its affiliates or otherwise act as fully and freely as though it were not the Warrant Agent under this Agreement. Nothing herein will preclude the Company and its affiliates from engaging the Warrant Agent in any other capacity.

- Change of Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent may resign and be discharged 5.6 from its duties under this Agreement upon 30 calendar days' prior notice in writing mailed, by registered or certified mail, to the Company. The Company may remove the Warrant Agent or any successor warrant agent upon 60 calendar days' prior notice in writing, mailed to the Warrant Agent or successor warrant agent, as the case may be, by registered or certified mail. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Warrant Agent becomes incapable of acting or is adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent or a receiver of the Warrant Agent or its property is appointed or any public officer takes control of the Warrant Agent or its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation, then the Company may remove the Warrant Agent immediately. If the Warrant Agent resigns or is removed or otherwise becomes incapable of acting, the Company will appoint a successor to the Warrant Agent (the "Successor Warrant Agent") and will, within 30 calendar days following such appointment, give notice thereof in writing to each registered Holder of the Warrant Certificates. If the Company fails to make such appointment within a period of 30 calendar days after giving notice of such removal or after it has been notified in writing of such resignation or incapacity by the resigning or incapacitated Warrant Agent, then the Company agrees to perform the duties of the Warrant Agent hereunder until a Successor Warrant Agent is appointed. After appointment, the Successor Warrant Agent will be vested with the same powers, rights, duties and responsibilities as if it had been originally named as Warrant Agent without further act or deed; but the former Warrant Agent will deliver and transfer to the Successor Warrant Agent any property at the time held by it hereunder, and execute and deliver any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed necessary for this purpose. Failure to give any notice provided for in this Section, however, or any defect therein will not affect the legality or validity of the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent or the appointment of the Successor Warrant Agent, as the case may be.
  - which the Warrant Agent or any Successor Warrant Agent may be merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any Person resulting from any merger or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent or any Successor Warrant Agent shall be a party, or any Person succeeding to the business of the Warrant Agent or any Successor Warrant Agent, shall be the successor to the Warrant Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto. In case at the time such Successor Warrant Agent shall succeed to the agency created by this Agreement, any of the Warrant Certificates shall have been countersigned but not delivered, any such Successor Warrant Agent may adopt the countersignature of the predecessor Warrant Agent and deliver such Warrant Certificates so countersigned; and in case at that time any of the Warrant Certificates shall not have been countersigned, any Successor Warrant Agent may countersign such Warrant Certificates either in the name of the predecessor Warrant Agent or in the name of the Successor Warrant Agent; and in all such cases such Warrant Certificates shall have the full force provided in the Warrant Certificates and in this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE VI

## Rights of Holders

- Holders not Stockholders. No Holder, as such, will be entitled to vote or to receive 6.1 dividends or otherwise will be deemed to be the holder of shares of Common Stock for any purpose, nor will anything contained herein or in any Warrant Certificate be construed to confer upon any Holder, as such, any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company or any right to vote upon or give or withhold consent to any action of the Company (whether upon any reorganization, issuance of securities, reclassification or conversion of Common Stock, consolidation, merger, sale, lease, conveyance or otherwise), receive notice of meetings or other action affecting stockholders (except for notices expressly provided for in this Agreement) or receive dividends or subscription rights, unless and until such Warrant Certificate will have been surrendered for exercise as provided in this Agreement, payment in respect of such exercise will have been received by the Warrant Agent, and shares of Common Stock will have become issuable thereunder and such person will have been deemed to have become a holder of record of such shares. No Holder will, upon the exercise of Warrants, be entitled to any dividends if the record date with respect to payment of such dividends will be a date prior to the date such shares of Common Stock became issuable upon the exercise of such Warrants.
- Claims by Holders. All rights of action in respect of the Warrants will be vested 6.2 in the respective Holders; provided, however, that no Holder will have the right to enforce, institute or maintain any suit, action or proceeding against the Company to enforce, or otherwise act in respect of, the Warrants, unless (a) such Holder has previously given written notice to the Company of the substance of such dispute, and the Holders of at least 25% of the issued and outstanding Warrants have given written notice to the Company of their support for the institution of such proceeding to resolve such dispute, (b) such Holder has previously given written notice to the Warrant Agent of the substance of such dispute and of the support for the institution of such proceeding and (c) the Warrant Agent has not instituted appropriate proceedings with respect to such dispute within 30 days following the date of such written notice to the Warrant Agent, it being understood and intended that the Warrant Agent has no obligation to institute proceedings and that no one or more Holders will have the right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights of any other Holders, or to obtain or to seek to obtain priority or preference over any other Holders or to enforce any rights of the Holders, except in the manner described in this Section 6.2 for the equal and ratable benefit of all Holders. Except as described above, no Holder will have the right to enforce, institute or maintain any suit, action or proceeding to enforce, or otherwise act in respect of, the Warrants.
- 6.3 <u>Control of Litigation</u>. The Bank will retain sole and exclusive control of the Litigation and will retain 100% of any recovery from the Litigation. The Holders will not have any right to control or manage the course or disposition of the Litigation or the proceeds of any recovery therefrom or any rights against the Company for any decision regarding the conduct of the Litigation or disposition of the Litigation for an amount less than the amount claimed in damages in the Litigation, regardless of the effect on the value of the Warrants.

6.4 <u>Determination of Values</u>. The determination of the Board of the Adjusted Litigation Recovery, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of a Warrant and the Exercise Price will be final, conclusive and binding upon the Holders.

#### ARTICLE VII

### Miscellaneous

- 7.1 <u>Information</u>. So long as any Warrant remains outstanding, the Company will deliver to the Warrant Agent and the Holders its annual report to stockholders and any other documents that the Company, in its discretion, deems appropriate.
- Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto without the consent of any Holder for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein or making any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under this Agreement as the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem necessary or desirable; provided, however, that such action will not affect adversely the rights of the Holders. Any amendment or supplement to this Agreement that has an adverse effect on the interests of the Holders will require the written consent of the Holders of a majority of the then outstanding Warrants. The consent of each Holder affected will be required for any amendment pursuant to which the Exercise Price would be increased or the number of Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of Warrants would be decreased (other than pursuant to adjustments provided for herein). In determining whether the Holders of the required number of Warrants have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent, Warrants owned by the Company or by any Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with the Company will be disregarded and deemed not to be outstanding, except that, for the purpose of determining whether the Warrant Agent will be protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Warrants which the Warrant Agent knows are so owned will be so disregarded. Also, subject to the foregoing, only Warrants outstanding at the time will be considered in any such determination. Prior to executing any amendment or supplement to this Agreement, an Officer of the Company shall deliver to the Warrant Agent a certificate that states that the proposed supplement or amendment is in compliance with the terms of this Section 7.2.
- 7.3 Notices. Any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given hereunder by any party to the other will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, or by telecopy or telefacsimile, upon confirmation of receipt, (b) on the first Business Day following the date of dispatch if delivered by a recognized next-day courier service, or (c) on the third Business Day following the date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. All notices hereunder will be delivered as set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such notice.

# (a) If to the Company:

Fay L. Chapman
Senior Executive Vice President
Washington Mutual, Inc.
1201 Third Avenue, WMT 1601
Seattle, WA 98101
Telecopy: (206) 461-5739

with a copy to:

David R. Wilson, Esq. Heller Ehrman White & McAuliffe 701 Fifth Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 Telecopy: (206) 447-0849

# (b) If to Warrant Agent:

Mellon Investor Services LLC 520 Pike Street, Suite 1220 Seattle, WA 98101 Attn: U. Julie Roh

Any notice or communication mailed to a Holder will be mailed to the Holder at the Holder's address as it appears on the Certificate Register and will be sufficiently given if so mailed within the time prescribed. Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it will not affect its sufficiency with respect to other Holders. If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee receives it.

- 7.4 <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BE PERFORMED ENTIRELY WITHIN SUCH STATE.
- 7.5 <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
- 7.6 Entire Agreement, Etc. (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties, both written and oral, between the parties, with respect to the subject matter hereof, and (b) this Agreement will not be assignable by operation of law or otherwise, except as provided herein with respect to any Successor Company or Successor Warrant Agent (any such other attempted assignment in contravention hereof being null and void).

- 7.7 Counterparts and Facsimile. For the convenience of the parties hereto, this Agreement may be executed in any number of separate counterparts, each such counterpart being deemed to be an original instrument, and all such counterparts will together constitute the same agreement. Executed signature pages to this Agreement may be delivered by facsimile and such facsimiles will be deemed as sufficient as if actual signature pages had been delivered.
- 7.8 <u>Captions</u>. The Article, Section and paragraph captions herein are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Agreement and will not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect any of the provisions hereof.
- 7.9 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person (including, without limitation, the officers and directors of the Warrant Agent and the Company) or circumstance is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions hereof, or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or unenforceable, will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereby, so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination, the parties will negotiate in good faith in an effort to agree upon a suitable and equitable substitute provision to effect the original intent of the parties.
- 7.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto, any benefit, right or remedies.
- 7.11 Successors. All agreements of the Company in this Agreement and the Warrant Certificates will bind its successors. All agreements of the Warrant Agent in this Agreement will bind its successors.

[Remainder of Page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC.

By:

Name: Fay L. Chapman

Title: Senior Executive Vice President

MELLON INVESTOR SERVICES LLC, as Warrant Agent,

Rv

Name: U. Julie RoH

Title: ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

_

## [FORM OF FACE OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

[Unless and until it is exchanged in whole or in part for Warrants in definitive form, this Warrant may not be transferred except as a whole by the depositary to a nominee of the depositary or by a nominee of the depositary to the depositary or another nominee of the depositary or by the depositary or any such nominee to a successor depositary or a nominee of such successor depositary. The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") (55 Water Street, New York, New York) will act as the depositary until a successor will be appointed by the Company and the Warrant Agent. Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of DTC to the issuer or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange or Amount Recovered, and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or such other name as requested by an authorized representative of DTC (and any Amount Recovered is made to Cede & Co. or such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.]*

WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC.

#### LITIGATION TRACKING WARRANT

No		
	Purchas	Litigation Tracking Warrants to see Shares of Common Stock Vashington Mutual, Inc.
number of Litigathe holder thereof in the Warrant A "Company"), su number of share (the "Common Sthe Adjusted Stothe Dime Excha shares of Commif any. This Wa Business on the Litigation has be	ation Tracking Warrar of (the "Holder"), at it agreement referred to be coessor by merger to be of Common Stock ("Stock") equal to the Act ock Price, multiplied beinge Ratio (1.1232), at non Stock for which or arrant Certificate will the last day of the Warrar een disposed of in a mapperty will be issuable	or registered assigns, is the registered holder of the atts set forth above (the "Warrants"). Each Warrant entitles is option and subject to the provisions contained herein and below, to purchase from Washington Mutual, Inc. (the DIME BANCORP, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Dime"), the "Warrant Shares"), no par value per share, of the Company djusted Litigation Recovery divided by the product of (1) by (2) the Maximum Number of Warrants, multiplied by (3) an exercise price per Warrant equal to the number of the Warrant is exercisable multiplied by the Exercise Price, erminate and become void on the earliest of (i) the Close of at Exercise Period, (ii) the Close of Business on the date the number such that no shares of Common Stock or other under the terms of the Warrants and (iii) the time and date

^{*} To be included only if the Warrant is in global form.

This Warrant Certificate and each Warrant represented hereby are issued pursuant to and are subject in all respects to the terms and conditions contained in a 2003 Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement dated as of March 11, 2003 as such agreement may be amended from time to time (the "Warrant Agreement"), between the Company, as successor to Dime, and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as successor to EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. and EquiServe Limited Partnership, as warrant agent (in such capacity, the "Warrant Agent", which term includes any successor Warrant Agent under the Warrant Agreement), to all of which terms and provisions the Holder of this Warrant Certificate consents by acceptance hereof. The Warrant Agreement is hereby incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. Reference is hereby made to the Warrant Agreement for a full statement of the respective rights, limitations of rights, duties and obligations of the Company, the Warrant Agent and the Holders of the Warrants.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein will have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Warrant Agreement. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be obtained for inspection by the Holder hereof upon written request to the Warrant Agent.

Subject to the terms of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants may be exercised in whole or in part by surrender of this Warrant Certificate with the form of election to purchase Warrant Shares attached hereto duly executed and with the simultaneous payment of the Exercise Price in cash (subject to adjustment) to the Warrant Agent for the account of the Company at the office of the Warrant Agent. Payment of the Exercise Price will be made by certified or official bank check or personal check payable to the order of the Company or by wire transfer of funds to an account designated by the Company for such purpose. No fractional Warrant Shares will be issued upon the exercise of any Warrant, but the Company will pay cash in lieu of a fractional share as provided in the Warrant Agreement.

As provided in the Warrant Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions therein set forth, each Warrant will be exercisable at any time from and from time to time during the Warrant Exercise Period only and will not be exercisable after the expiration of the Warrant Exercise Period.

The Warrant Agreement provides that upon the occurrence of certain events the number of Warrant Shares may be, subject to certain conditions, adjusted.

The Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to pay all taxes and other governmental charges in connection with the transfer or exchange of the Warrant Certificates.

The holder in whose name the Warrant Certificate is registered may be deemed and treated by the Company and the Warrant Agent as the absolute owner of the Warrant Certificate for all purposes whatsoever and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent will be affected by any notice to the contrary.

The Warrants represent a contingent right to purchase shares of Common Stock with an aggregate value based on a portion of any proceeds that may be received by the Bank from the Litigation. There can be no assurance as to when the Litigation will be resolved or the amount of proceeds, if any, the Bank or the Company will receive therefrom. The Holders will not have any right to control or manage the course or disposition of the Litigation or the proceeds of any recovery therefrom.

The Warrants do not entitle any holder hereof to any of the rights of a holder of any Common Stock or Preferred Stock of the Company.

This Warrant Certificate will not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until it will have been countersigned by the Warrant Agent.

# WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC.

	Ву
[SEAL]	
Attest: Secretary	
DATED:	
Countersigned:  Las Warrant Agent,	
by Authorized Signatory	<del></del>

# FORM OF ELECTION TO PURCHASE WARRANT SHARES

(to be executed only upon exercise of Warrants)

## WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC.

per Warrant of \$[ ] to acquire [ Washington Mutual, Inc. (the "Compar Warrant Certificate and the Warrant A Certificate and all right, title and intere	ects to exercise [ ] Warrants at an exercise price ] shares of Common Stock, no par value per share, of my"), on the terms and conditions specified in the within greement therein referred to, surrenders this Warrant est therein to the Company, and directs that the shares of exercise of such Warrants be registered and delivered in the wand delivered thereto.
Date:,	
	(Signature of Owner)*
	(Street Address)
	(City) (State) (Zip Code)
	Signature Guaranteed by:

^{*}The signature must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the within Warrant Certificate in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever, and must be guaranteed by a national bank or trust company or by a member firm of any national securities exchange.

The following exchanges of a part of this Global Warrant for definitive Warrants have been made:

# CERTIFICATE TO BE DELIVERED UPON EXCHANGE OR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER OF WARRANTS

Re: Warrants to Purchase Comme (the "Company")	on Stock (the "Warrants") of Washington Mutual, Inc.
This Certificate relates to (the "Transferor").	Warrants held in definitive form by
transfer of a Warrant or Warrants. The V	t Agent by written order to exchange or register the Varrant Agent and the Company are entitled to rely upor rized to produce this Certificate or a copy hereof to any legal proceedings or official inquiry with respect to the
	[INSERT NAME OF TRANSFEROR]
	by
Date:	_

### Fee Schedule

### A. Term.

The fees and other charges listed herein are subject to increase by Mellon Investor Services LLC ("Mellon"), at any time after January 6, 2004, and shall become effective upon receipt by Washington Mutual, Inc. (the "Client") of notice thereof.

## B. Monthly Administrative Fee

\$3,000.00

1. The Monthly Administrative Fee will be charged for all services listed on <u>Schedule I</u> attached hereto, and will be subject to the following allowances and the additional charges listed in Section B(2):

Number of active accounts maintained	21,000
Number of inactive accounts maintained	7,000
Number of option items processed	100
Number of restricted items processed	N/A
Number of legal items processed	N/A
Number of mailings per year (including one enclosure)	4
Number of reports or analyses	4
Number of lists or labels	4
Number of Inspectors of Election	N/A
Number of respondent bank omnibus proxies	N/A
Number of certificates issued and book-entry credits	1,000
Number of certificates cancelled and book-entry debits	2,000
Number of shareholder telephone calls per month	750
handled by Interactive Voice Response System	
Number of shareholder telephone calls per month	360
transferred out of the IVR to a Customer Service	
Representative	
Number of correspondence items per month responding	120
to shareholder inquiries	
Number of Investor ServiceDirect SM transactions per month	1,500

2. To the extent the allowances listed above in Section B(1) are exceeded or additional actions are required to be taken by Mellon, the following unit fees will apply:

For each active account maintained (per year)	\$5.00
For each inactive account maintained	\$2.00
For each option or restricted item processed	\$25.00
For each legal item processed	\$50.00
Lists, Labels and Analyses	See Section C(1)
	See Section C(2)
For each additional Inspector of Election	N/A
For each respondent bank omnibus proxy	N/A
For each DWAC delivery	\$25.00
For each certificate issued or cancelled	\$2.00
For each book-entry credit or debit posted	\$1.50
For each shareholder telephone call via CSR	\$5.25
For each shareholder telephone call via IVR	\$1.50
For each correspondence responding to a shareholder	\$15.00
For each Investor ServiceDirect transaction	\$1.50
For each stop maintained on a lost certificate (per mon	oth) \$0.05
For each stop maintained on a lost certificate	\$0.05
For each stop removed from a lost certificate  For each stop placed on or removed from a restricted	
For each stop placed on or removed from a resulted	

- 3. For the purposes of this Fee Schedule, the following definitions apply:
  - a. Investor ServiceDirect ("ISD") transactions will include any shareholder transaction initiated through ISD including, but not limited to, the following:
    - Purchasing or selling shares N/A
    - Duplicate 1099 requests N/A
    - Updating or changing consent to electronic delivery
    - Forms or document requests
    - Taxpayer certification
    - Certificate issuance
    - Update dividend reinvestment selection N/A
    - Duplicate book entry statement N/A
    - PIN change
  - b. Active and Inactive accounts will be defined as follows:

D-2

 "Active accounts" are defined as accounts with a share balance greater than zero or outstanding cash balances or taxable income that has not yet been reported to the Internal Revenue Service.

- "Inactive accounts" are defined as accounts with a share balance equal to zero and no outstanding cash balances and no taxable income to be reported to the Internal Revenue Service.
- C. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the following fees will also be charged for each of the services listed below:

1	Liete.	Labels	and	Analyses.
	T1212*		4111	121101112001

2.

11.72.3	ed alexand mine in include	
a.	LISTS Per name listed	\$0.05
b.	LABELS Per label printed	\$0.05
c.	ANALYSES Per name passed on data base Per name listed in report	\$0.02 \$0.05
đ.	The minimum charge for each of the above services will be \$250.	
M	ailing Services.	
a.	ADDRESSING Addressing mailing medium (per name)	\$0.05
b.	AFFIXING Affixing labels (per label)	\$0.04
c.	INSERTING	
	<ul> <li>i. Inserting Enclosures (Machine)</li> <li>1 st Enclosure (per piece)</li> <li>2nd Enclosure (per piece)</li> <li>Each Enclosure thereafter (per piece)</li> </ul>	\$0.05 \$0.04 \$0.03

DOCSSEA/52922.I

Charge will be determined based on analysis of

ii. Inserting Enclosures (Manual)

work to be performed.

d. The minimum charge for any of the above-listed mailing services will be \$500.

# D. Fees Relating to Warrant Exchange Services:

1.	One time Set-Up/Administration Fee, per file	\$5,000.00
2.	Annual Fee, per year	\$500.00
3.	Processing Accounts, each	\$20.00
4.	Examining & Canceling Certificates (per Certificate)	\$0.10
5.	Items Requiring Additional Handling, additional each occurrence, including, Legal Items, Correspondence, Partials, Defective Items, Window Items, Items not providing a Taxpayer Identification Number, Transfer Requests (per transfer), multiple checks (per check), Lost Items	
6.	Prepare and File Form 1099 (B or D), each With Tendering Stockholder and Appropriate Government Agencies	Included
7.	Minimum Annual Fee for first year, Exclusive of Special Services	\$5,500.00
8.	Media & Drafting Services Changes to standard LT's: drafting event-related materials.	\$175 per hour
9.	Special Services	
	<ul> <li>Additional Changes to Shareholder File including transfer journal updates</li> </ul>	\$25.00/account
	* Special Tax Reporting	\$3.00/account
	* Shareholder File/Tape Reload	\$2,000.00
	* Termination of contract	By Appraisal
		70 4

# 10. Out of Pocket Expenses

* Additional Special Services

Additional

By Appraisal

Including Postage, Printing, Stationary, Overtime, Transportation, Microfilming, etc.

## E. Expenses and Other Charges.

1. <u>Fees and Out of Pocket Expenses</u>: The cost of stationery and supplies, including but not limited to transfer sheets, dividend checks, envelopes,

successor agent inquiries). This fee will be based on Mellon's thencurrent deconversion fee schedule. Mellon may withhold the Client's records, reports and unused certificate stock from a successor agent pending the Client's payment in full of all fees and expenses owed to Mellon under this Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement.

5. <u>Legal, Technological Expenses</u>: Certain expenses may be incurred in resolving legal matters that arise in the course of performing services hereunder. This may result in a separate charge to cover Mellon's expenses (including the cost of external or internal counsel) in resolving such matters; provided that any legal expenses charged to the Client shall be reasonable.

In the event any Federal regulation and/or state or local law are enacted which require Mellon to make any technological improvements and/or modifications to its current system, Client shall compensate Mellon, on a pro rata basis proportionate to the Client's registered shareholder base, for the costs associated with making such required technological improvements and/or modifications.

- 6. Record Storage: Monthly fee of \$2.50 per box, with a minimum charge of \$50.00.
- 7. <u>Lost Shareholder Services</u>: A fee of \$3.00 will be charged for each lost account searched per database searched. A fee of \$2.50 will be charged per account for each state mandated due diligence mailing.
- 8. Other Services: Fees for any services provided under this Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement by or on behalf of Mellon that are not set forth in this Exhibit D will be based on Mellon's standard fees at the time such services are provided or, if no standard fees have been established, an appraisal of the work to be performed.

# Services to be Provided

#### **Account Maintenance Functions** A.

- Opening new accounts
- Posting debits and credits
- Maintaining certificate history
- Placing and releasing stop transfer notations
- Consolidating accounts
- Coding accounts requiring special handling (e.g. "bad address," "do not mail," "VIP," etc.)
- Processing address changes
- Responding to shareholder correspondence
- Providing a toll-free phone number for shareholder inquiries
- Obtaining and posting Taxpayer Identification Number certifications pursuant to IDTCA regulations
- Maintaining inactive accounts for the purpose of research and tax reporting
- Closing (purging) inactive accounts that meet selective criteria
- Providing Client and its shareholders with on-line access to shareholder records
- Training on all aspects of Mellon's stock transfer system

#### Security Issuance Functions В.

- Qualifying under the rules of the NYSE and NASDAQ/AMEX to act in the dual capacity as transfer agent and registrar
- Maintaining mail and window facilities for the receipt of transfer requests
- Maintaining and securing unissued certificate inventory and supporting documents
- Examining issuance or transfer requests to ensure that proper authority is being exercised
- Verifying (to the extent possible) that surrendered certificates are genuine and have not been altered
- Verifying that original issuances are properly authorized and have necessary regulatory approval
- In connection with requests for transfer, verifying that Shares issued equal the amount surrendered
- Place and remove stop orders on Share
- Verifying that no stop orders are held against Shares submitted for transfer
- Issuing and registering new securities

- Recording canceled and issued securities
- Canceling surrendered certificates
- Delivering completed transfers
- Processing restricted and legal transfers upon presentment of appropriate supporting documentation
- Preparing daily transfer or management summary journals
   Replacing lost, destroyed or stolen certificates provided that Mellon is in receipt of (a) evidence acceptable to it of the loss, theft or destruction, and (b) a surety bond acceptable to Mellon sufficient to indemnify and hold it and Client harmless (charge imposed on shareholder)

## **EXHIBIT C**

# IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:

WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC., 1 et al.,

Debtors.

BROADBILL INVESTMENT CORP., NANTAHALA CAPITAL PARTNERS, LP, and BLACKWELL CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC, individually and on behalf of all holders of Litigation Tracking Warrants originally issued by Dime Bancorp,

Plaintiffs.

-against-

WASHINGTON MUTUAL, INC., CHARLES LILLIS, DAVID BONDERMAN, FRANCIS BAIER, JAMES STEVER, MARGARET OSMER MCQUADE, ORIN SMITH, PHILLIP MATTEWS, REGINA MONTOYA, STEPHEN FRANK, STEPHEN CHAZEN, THOMAS LEPPERT, WILLIAM REED, JR., MICHAEL MURPHY,

Defendants.

Chapter 11

Case No. 08-12229 (MFW)

Jointly Administered

Adv. Pro. No. 10-50911 (MFW)

# ORDER GRANTING MOTION OF THE WMI DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS' SECOND AMENDED CLASS COMPLAINT

Upon the motion, dated April 1, 2011 (the "Motion"), of newly-added defendants Charles Lillis, David Bonderman, James Stever, Margaret Osmer McQuade, Orin Smith, Phillip Matthews, Regina Montoya, Stephen Frank, Stephen Chazen, Thomas Leppert, William Reed, Jr., and Michael Murphy (collectively, the "WMI Director Defendants"), for entry of an order dismissing *Plaintiffs' Second Amended Class* 

¹ The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number are: (i) Washington Mutual, Inc. (3725); and (ii) WMI Investment Corp. (5395). The Debtors' principal offices are located at 925 Fourth Avenue, Seattle, Washington 98104.

Complaint (the "Second Amended Complaint") [Docket No. 162] filed by Broadbill

Investment Corp., Nantahala Capital Partners, LP, and Blackwell Capital Partners, LLC,

the plaintiffs herein; and the Court having jurisdiction to consider the Motion and the

relief requested therein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334; and consideration of the

Motion and the relief requested therein being a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 157(b); and venue being proper before this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and

1409; and due and proper notice of the Motion having been provided to the parties listed

therein; and it appearing that no other or further notice need be provided; and the Court

having determined that the legal and factual bases set forth in the Motion establish just

cause for the relief granted herein; and upon all of the proceedings had before the Court,

after due deliberation and sufficient cause appearing therefor

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that:

1. The Motion is GRANTED.

2. All claims against the WMI Director Defendants in the Second

Amended Complaint are hereby dismissed with prejudice.

3. This Court shall retain jurisdiction to hear and determine all

matters arising from or related to the implementation, interpretation, or enforcement of

this Order

, 2011 Wilmington, Delaware

THE HONORABLE MARY F. WALRATH

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE

2

## **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I, Travis A. McRoberts, do hereby certify that on April 1, 2011, I caused copies of the foregoing *Motion of the WMI Director Defendants to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second Amended Class Complaint* to be served on counsel in the manner indicated on the attached service list.

Travis A. McRoberts (No. 5274)

## **SERVICE LIST**

### Via Hand Delivery

David B. Stratton
David M. Fournier
Evelyn J. Meltzer
John H. Schanne, II
PEPPER HAMILTON LLP
1313 North Market Street, Suite 5100
Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Mark E. Felger Simon E. Fraser COZEN O'CONNOR 1201 N. Market Street, Suite 1400 Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Frederick B. Rosner Scott J. Leonhardt THE ROSNER LAW GROUP LLC 824 Market Street, Suite 810 Wilmington, Delaware 19801

### Via First-Class Mail

Fred S. Hodara Robert A. Johnson AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER & FELD LLP One Bryant Park New York, New York 10036

Peter J. Gurfein
David P. Simonds
AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER & FELD LLP
2029 Century Park East, Suite 2400
Los Angeles, California 90067

Paul N. Silverstein
J. Wiley George
Jonathan I. Levine
ANDREWS KURTH LLP
450 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10017

Arthur Steinberg KING & SPALDING 1185 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10036

Jonathan Hochman
Daniel E. Shaw
SCHINDLER COHEN & HOCHMAN LLP
100 Wall Street
New York, New York 10005